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Chairman’s Statement
主席報告

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of 

Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited (the “Company”), I am pleased 

to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries 

(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the 

“Year”).

The overall market conditions were challenging this year as the 

real estate market in the PRC and in Hong Kong regions remained 

sluggish and many developers in the region struggled with cash flow. 

The demand for construction equipment leasing was therefore slow 

and there was also an overall trend to move into electric storage 

solutions which renders some of our traditional diesel generators and 

related equipment obsolete. Our property management business also 

encountered difficulties as a larger percentage of residential property 

owners delayed payments which led to cost overrun. In light of the 

challenging market conditions, the Board will continue to employ a 

low leverage position and will continue to explore potential business 

opportunities to bring long-term value to the shareholders of the 

Company (the “Shareholders”).

Xu Chujia

Chairman

30 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW, MARKET PROSPECT AND 
OUTLOOK
The Group is principally engaged in the trading of machinery and spare 

parts, leasing of machinery and provision of related services, provision 

of transportation services and money lending in Hong Kong, and 

provision of property management services, leasing of machinery and 

property leasing, subletting, retail, money lending and other businesses 

in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The overall market conditions were challenging this year as the 

real estate market in the PRC and in Hong Kong regions remained 

sluggish and many developers in the region struggled with cash flow. 

The demand for construction equipment leasing was therefore slow 

and there was also an overall trend to move into electric storage 

solutions which renders some of our traditional diesel generators and 

related equipment obsolete. Our property management business also 

encountered difficulties as a larger percentage of residential property 

owners delayed payments which led to cost overrun. In light of the 

challenging market conditions, the Board will continue to employ a 

low leverage position and will continue to explore potential business 

opportunities to bring long-term value to the Shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
Our total revenue decreased by approximately HK$69.8 million, or 

26.1%, from approximately HK$267.7 million for the Previous Year to 

approximately HK$197.9 million for the Year. Such decrease was mainly 

attributable to (i) the reduction of leasing related revenue of HK$33.6 

million; (ii) the reduction of sales of machinery and spare parts related 

revenue of HK$20.0 million; and (iii) the reduction of retail indoor arcade 

related revenue of HK$16.5 million.

 

267.7

69.8 26.1%
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論及分析

Leasing of construction machinery

Our Group’s revenue generated from leasing of construction 

machinery recorded a decreased by approximately HK$35.8 million, 

or approximately 42.5%, from approximately HK$84.4 million for the 

Previous Year to approximately HK$48.5 million for the Year. Such 

decrease was mainly due to the sluggish real estate market which lead 

to lower demand for construction related equipment and an overall 

trend to move into electric storage solutions which renders some of our 

traditional diesel generators and related equipment obsolete.

Trading of construction machinery

Our Group’s revenue generated from trading of construction 

machinery recorded a decrease by approximately HK$20.0 million, 

or approximately 89.1%, from approximately HK$22.4 million for the 

Previous Year to approximately HK$2.4 million for the Year. Such 

decrease was mainly due to a lack of market trading opportunity from 

an overall poor real estate market.

Property management services

Our Group’s revenue generated from property management services 

increased by approximately HK$6.3 million, or approximately 8.1%, from 

approximately HK$78.4 million for the Previous Year to approximately 

HK$84.7 million for the Year. The increase was mainly due to an 

increase in overall area under management.

Property leasing, subletting services and retail businesses

Our Group’s revenue generated from property leasing, subletting 

services and retail businesses decreased by approximately HK$21.4 

million, or approximately 27.2%, from approximately HK$78.8 million 

for the Previous Year to approximately HK$57.4 million for the Year. 

Such decrease was mainly the result of lower income from our indoor 

amusement arcade business.

84.4 35.8

42.5% 48.5

22.4 20.0

89.1% 2.4

78.4 6.3

8.1% 84.7

78.8

21.4 27.2%

57.4
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Money Lending
Our Group’s revenue generated from money lending increased by 

approximately HK$1.1 million from HK$3.8 million to HK$4.9 million. 

Such increase was mainly due to higher loan balance this year.

Cost of Sales and Services
Our Group’s cost of sales and services decreased by approximately 

HK$49.5 million, or approximately 21.9%, from approximately HK$226.4 

million for the Previous Year to approximately HK$176.9 million for the 

Year. Cost of sales and services mainly comprised costs of machinery 

and equipment and spare parts, staff costs and depreciation. The 

decrease in cost of sales and services was mainly due to lower revenue 

for the Year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin
Our Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately HK$20.3 million, 

or approximately 49.1%, from approximately HK$41.3 million for the 

Previous Year to approximately HK$21.0 million for the Year, and 

our gross profit margin decreased from approximately 15.4% for the 

Previous Year to approximately 10.6% for the Year as a result of poor 

operating result as described above.

Other Losses
Our Group’s other losses increased by approximately HK$29.6 

million, from approximately HK$13.7 million for the Previous Year to 

approximately HK$43.3 million for the Year. The increase was mainly 

due to the recognition of impairment loss of property, plant and 

equipment and loss on disposal for obsolete equipment.

Expected credit losses on financial assets
Our Group’s expected credit losses on financial assets increased 

by approximately HK$2.2 million, or approximately 12.7%, from 

approximately HK$17.5 million to approximately HK$19.7 million. The 

increase was mainly due to a larger amount of longer aged receivables 

this year.

3.8

1.1 4.9

226.4 49.5

21.9% 176.9

41.3

20.3 49.1%

21.0

15.4% 10.6%

13.7

29.6 43.3

17 .5 2 .2

12.7% 19.7
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論及分析
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Administrative Expenses
Our Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately 

HK$6.0 million, or 15.6%, from approximately HK$38.6 million for 

the Previous Year to approximately HK$44.6 million for the Year. 

The increase is mainly attributable to the increase in staff cost for 

administrative staff and increase in depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment.

Finance Income
Our Group’s finance income decreased by approximately HK$0.4 

million, or approximately 18.4%, from approximately HK$2.0 million for 

the Previous Year to approximately HK$1.6 million for the Year as a 

result of lower average cash deposit during the Year.

Finance Costs
Our Group’s finance costs decreased by approximately HK$0.6 

million, or approximately 35.4%, from approximately HK$1.7 million for 

the Previous Year to approximately HK$1.1 million for the Year. The 

decrease was mainly due to lower outstanding borrowings during the 

Year.

Income Tax Credit and Effective Tax Rate
Our Group’s income tax credit increased by approximately HK$8.1 

million, from approximately HK$0.1 million for the Previous Year to 

approximately HK$8.3 million for the Year. The increase was mainly due 

to the loss making position of the operating subsidiaries this Year.

The effective tax rate was not applicable for the Year and the Previous 

Year as the Group were loss-making.

Net Loss
The Group’s net loss increased by approximately HK$49.8 million from 

approximately HK$28.0 million in the Previous Year to approximately 

HK$77.8 million this Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES REVIEW
The Group financed its operations through a combination of cash flow 

from operations, borrowings and lease liabilities. As at 31 March 2025, 

the Group had cash and bank balance of approximately HK$28.9 million 

(2024: approximately HK$34.3 million) which were mainly denominated 

in HK$ and RMB, and had borrowings of approximately HK$2.7 

million (2024: approximately HK$10.2 million) and lease liabilities of 

approximately HK$15.2 million (2024: approximately HK$22.7 million) 

respectively that were mainly in HK$ and RMB.

Gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity at the end 

of the reporting period. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings and 

total obligations under finance leases less cash and bank balances and 

restricted cash. As at 31 March 2025, the Group was in a net cash 

position (2024: net cash position).

As at 31 March 2025, our Group’s total current assets and current 

liabilities were approximately HK$247.9 million (2024: approximately 

HK$207.4 mi l l ion) and approximately HK$93.3 mi l l ion (2024: 

approximately HK$100.5 million) respectively. Our Group’s current ratio 

was approximately 2.7 times as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 2.1 times).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2025, our Group’s borrowings of approximately HK$2.7 

million (2024: approximately HK$10.2 million) and lease liabilities 

of HK$15.2 million (2024: approximately HK$22.7 million) were not 

secured by property, plant and equipment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論及分析
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at 31 March 2025, the total issued share capital of the Company 

was HK$12,390,000 divided into 6,195,000,000 ordinary shares of 

HK$0.002 each.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
The total capital expenditure incurred for the Year was approximately 

HK$43.1 million (2024: approximately HK$67.5 million) which was 

mainly used in purchase of property, plant and equipment for our 

leasing business and property decoration and additions of right-of-use 

for our retail business.

CURRENCY RISK
Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in currencies which 

are different from the functional currencies of the Group’s principal 

subsidiaries, namely, HK$ and RMB. Therefore the Group is exposed 

to foreign exchange risk. At 31 March 2025, the Group held certain 

financial assets and financial liabilities which were denominated in US$. 

The directors are of the opinion that the Group’s exposure to US$ and 

RMB foreign currency risk is minimal. Therefore, the directors of the 

Company consider the Group has no significant foreign currency risk.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, 

the Group will continue to monitor closely its exposure to currency 

movement and take proactive measures.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group had no material contingent liabilities at the end of the 

reporting period (31 March 2024: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Our capital commitments consist primarily of purchase of construction 

machinery for leasing purpose. As at 31 March 2025, there were 

approximately HK$0.1 million (31 March 2024: HK$5.8 million) of capital 

commitments in machinery and equipment contracted but not provided for.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 March 2025, our Group had 395 staff members (2024: 

706). The total staff costs incurred by our Group for the Year were 

approximately HK$52.4 million (2024: approximately HK$57.1 million). 

The decrease in staff costs was mainly due to the reduction in staff 

costs from the selling departments as a result of lower revenue.

Employees’ remuneration packages are determined with reference to 

the market information and individual performance and will be reviewed 

on a regular basis. The remuneration policy will be reviewed by the 

Board from time to time. In addition to basic remuneration, the Group 

also makes contributions to mandatory provident funds scheme in Hong 

Kong and contribute an amount to certain retirement benefit schemes 

of those employees in the PRC.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL 
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, 
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES, AND PLANS 
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL 
ASSET
Save as to the distressed secured loan of RMB80,000,000 (equivalent 

to approximately HK$91,200,000) principal amount acquired for a 

cash consideration of RMB65,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 

HK$74,100,000), the details of which has been disclosed in the 

Company’s announcement dated 8 September 2022, the Group did not 

have any significant investments held.

(a) Details of the distressed loan:
The distressed loan was matured in 2000 and is secured by 

mortgaged over a property located in Shenzhen, China, with a 

construction area of approximately 4,000 square meters.

395 706

52.4

57.1

 

65,000,000

74,100,000

80,000,000 91,200,000

(a) 

4,000
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論及分析

(b) 

57.0

13.7%

(c) 

12.8

18.2%

i

ii

(d) 

(b) The fair value of the distressed loan and its size 
relative to the Company’s total assets:
The fair value of the distressed loan as at 31 March 2025 was 

HK$57.0 million, which represents 13.7% of the Company’s total 

assets.

(c) The performance of the distressed loan during the 
year, including any realised and unrealised gain or 
loss and any dividends received:
The distressed loan recorded a fair value loss of approximately 

HK$12.8 million, or 18.2% during the Year. No interest or dividend 

was received from the distressed loan during the Year. The decline 

in fair value was mainly the result of: i) the change of investment 

strategy from held for disposal to held for investment (discussed 

below); and ii) the reflection of the overall real estate market 

performance.

(d) A discussion of the Company’s investment strategy 
on the distressed loan:
The Company’s investment strategy is to obtain a court order to 

get the income right over the secured property, which will enable 

the Company to lease out the property to obtain rental income. 

The initial strategy of the Company was to obtain a court order 

to auction and dispose the property. However, due to the legacy 

nature that the property right was a temporary use right and not 

a full property usage right, it was noted from the court that the 

property site may not be accurately measured. Therefore, with 

reference to similar court cases, the Company will submit to the 

court to obtain an income right order instead.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, neither the Company nor any of 

its subsidiaries had other material acquisition or disposal.

As at the date of this announcement, the Group does not have any 

plans for material investments or capital asset.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

163

500 2,000

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED 
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
There were no purchase, redemption or sale by the Company or any of 

its subsidiaries of the listed securities of the Company during the Year.

MONEY LENDING BUSINESS
The business model and credit risk assessment policy of 
the money lending business
The Group holds a money lenders license under the Money Lender’s 

Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and carries 

on money lending activities in the PRC through its financial leasing 

company. The Group mainly utilizes its internal resources to fund its 

Money Lending Business, with an aim to generate interest income that 

meets the return set by the Board from time to time. Our target loan 

size that ranges from around HK$5 million to HK$20 million, with an aim 

to maintain suitable risk diversification relatively the to the Group’s total 

asset size. Each individual loans may be collateralized or unsecured, 

and the corresponding interest rates will be adjusted based on prevailing 

market conditions. The Group typically identify its clients through referral 

from business partners or acquired from employees of the Group. For 

loans which are collateralized, our target customer range is broader as 

we focus more on acceptable loan-to-value ratios and liquidity of the 

collateral. For unsecured loans, we will focus on customers with cleaner 

credit history and stronger sources of repayment.

Potential borrowers are subject to credit verification procedures. These 

may include assessment on their creditworthiness based on their credit 

scores, business model, financial positions, profitability, cash flows, 

history of default, sources of repayment and other factors such as 

secured collaterals provided. Loan applications and credit assessment 

reports are complied by a loan officer for senior management’s 

approval.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
管理層討論及分析
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4(v) (ii) 6
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Subsequent reviews of the borrowers are also updated on an annual 

basis, which may include assessment on their financial situation, 

historical payment records, the length any of overdue amounts, 

any foreseeable changes in the economic environment that would 

significantly deteriorate the borrower’s ability to meet its obligation, and 

value of collaterals where applicable. Borrowers may be requested to 

early repay the loans if any of such adverse conditions happen.

DETAILS OF THE GROUP’S LOAN PORTFOLIOS 
AND IMPAIRMENT POLICY
The total outstanding loan receivables as at 31 March 2025 

comprised of 7 corporate borrowers with principal amount ranging 

from approximately HK$6.5 million to HK$20.0 million. The maturity 

dates are approximately one year. For further details on our Group’s 

impairment policy, please refer to: (i) note 4(v) “Impairment of financial 

assets”; (ii)section titled “Loans receivable” under “Credit Risk” of note 

6 “Financial Risk Management” and (iii) note 27 “Loans receivable” to 

the consolidated financial statements.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Xu Zhicong ( ), aged 24, has around six years of experience 

in investment and management of retail stores which include indoor 

parks, amusement arcades, and hotels. He is the son of Mr. Xu Chujia, 

the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, and a nephew of 

Ms. Tsim Ying Wah, a non-executive Director.

Ms. Zhang Yu ( ), aged 42, has around 16 years of experience in 

management. From 2010 to September 2024, she was appointed in 

various positions of Shenzhen Zhaobangji Group Company Limited* 

( ), including assistant to chairman, head of 

human resources, head of finance, general manager of commercial 

real estate business, deputy chief executive officer and director. She 

obtained her bachelor degree in psychology in Qufu Normal University 

in 2007 and her masters degree in psychology in Weifang Medical 

University in 2010.

Ms. Zeng Yue Ying ( ), aged 62, has extensive legal background 

in the People’s Republic of China. Ms. Zeng graduated from Northwest 

University of Political Science and Law in 1985 with a bachelor in law, 

and with a masters in law in 1988. From July 1988 to August 1997, 

Ms. Zeng was a lecturer, associate professor and professor in the 

law school of Northwest University of Political Science and Law. From 

August 1997 to February 2004, Ms. Zeng was a professor in the law 

school of Zhejiang University of Science and Economics. From February 

2004 to October 2009, Ms. Zeng was a professor in the law school of 

Shenzhen University. From February 2004 to 2014, Ms. Zeng was a 

part-time lawyer of Guangdong Allied Law Firm. From April 2005, Ms. 

Zeng was the deputy dean of the Zhuhai Intermediate People’s Court. 

From October 2009 to September 2023, Ms. Zeng was appointed 

as the deputy dean of the law school in Shenzhen University. From 

2014, Ms. Zeng was appointed as the part-time lawyer of Guangdong 

Zhuoshang Law Firm.

24

42 16

62
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
董事及高級管理層履歷詳情

Mr. Xu Chujia ( ), an executive Director, the brother-in-law of Ms. 

Tsim Ying Wah, a non-executive Director, and father of Mr. Xu Zhicong, 

an executive Director. Mr. Xu Chujia is a director, and the owner of 

58.53% of the issued share capital, of Boardwin Resources Limited 

(“Boardwin”), which in turn beneficially owns 3,804,096,000 shares in 

the Company, representing approximately 61.41% of the issued share 

capital of the Company. Mr. Xu Chujia is also the controlling shareholder 

of Banco Well Link S.A., a licensed bank in Macau, Well Link Life 

Insurance Company Limited, a licensed life insurance company in 

Hong Kong, Well Link General Insurance Company Limited, a licensed 

general insurance company in Hong Kong, Well Link Securities Holdings 

Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong, and Well Link Securities 

Limited, a licensed securities company in Hong Kong.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ms. Tsim Ying Wah ( ), aged 43, was first appointed as a 

Director on 29 March 2018. As at the date of this report, she owned 1% 

of the issued share capital of Boardwin. She is the sister-in-law of Mr. 

Xu Chujia, and an aunt of Mr. Xu Zhicong. She obtained her bachelor’s 

degree in law from East China College of Political Science and Law* 

( ) (currently known as East China University of Political 

Science and Law ( )) in Shanghai, the PRC. She then 

obtained a master’s degree in laws from the City University of Hong 

Kong in 2005 and a master’s degree in laws in international legal studies 

from The American University, Washington College of Law in 2006. She 

has over 16 years of experience in the legal, finance and real estate 

industry in Hong Kong and the PRC. She is currently a United States 

attorney (New York), a qualified PRC lawyer as well as a registered 

foreign lawyer in Hong Kong.

53

Boardwin Resources Limited

Boardwin

58.53% Boardwin
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey ( ), aged 65, was appointed an 

independent non-executive Director on 29 March 2018. He obtained 

his bachelor’s degree in business administration from The Chinese 

University of Hong Kong in December 1983 and a master’s degree in 

business administration (investment and finance) from the University 

of Hull in December 1994. He has extensive experience in business 

consulting. He was a non-executive director of Gudou Holdings Limited 

(stock code: 8308), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange 

from 29 September 2014 to 12 April 2019. He was an independent non-

executive director of Vinda International Holdings Limited (stock code: 

3331), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from 

19 June 2007 to 16 October 2015. He resigned as an independent 

non-executive director of Vinda International Holdings Limited with 

effect from 16 October 2015 and served as a consultant to the board of 

directors of Vinda International Holdings Limited until December 2017.

Mr. Ye Longfei ( ), aged 82, was appointed an independent 

non-executive Director on 11 April 2018. He was born in Shanghai. He 

graduated from the Shanghai Fudan University in physics in 1965 and 

graduated as a postgraduate from the same department in 1968. Mr. Ye 

has been engaged in the electronics industry for 20 years and has been 

the Director of Shanghai Electronic Instrument Industry Bureau* (

) since 1985. In 1988, he served as the Deputy Secretary-

General of the Shanghai Municipal Government and the Executive 

Deputy Director of the Shanghai Foreign Investment Commission. 

In 1991, he came to Hong Kong to set up the “Shanghai Desk”, a 

cooperative arrangement between the Shanghai Municipal Government 

and Arthur Anderson & Co. (HK). He joined the Kerry Group in 1995. 

He has joined the Shangri-La Asia Limited (stock code: 0069) under the 

Kerry Group since 1997 and served as its executive director from 16 

December 1997 to 27 March 2007, and the chairman of the board of 

directors from 2000 until 2003, when he was appointed vice chairman 

of the board of directors. He has served as a consultant in Kerry Group 

from 2007 until his retirement from the group in 2018. He has been 

an independent non-executive director of Hua Hong Semiconductor 

Limited (stock code: 1347) from 12 December 2014 to 28 March 2024, 

a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

65

8308

GEM

3331

82

Shanghai Desk

0069)

1347
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• 

Mr. Yu Chor On ( ) (“Mr. Yu”), aged 36, graduated with a 

bachelor’s degree in Business Administration (International Business 

and Global Management) from The University of Hong Kong in 2009, 

and a master’s degree in Corporate Governance from The Hong Kong 

Polytechnic University in 2016. Mr. Yu started his career in the audit 

function of KPMG. Upon obtaining his practising certificate in 2014, he 

established his own accounting firm, Roger Yu & Co., and has been 

serving as the Chairman since then.

Note:

• The English translation of the Chinese name is for illustration purpose only. 
Should there be any inconsistencies, the Chinese name shall prevail.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the 

Company for the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Group is committed to maintain high standards of corporate 

governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to 

enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has 

adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set 

out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as our corporate governance 

practices, and applied the principles of good corporate governance 

set out in the CG Code by complying with the applicable code 

provisions thereunder. The Company has complied with the applicable 

code provisions under the CG Code for the Year. The key corporate 

governance principles and practices of the Company are outlined in this 

report.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, 

oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and 

performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility 

for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior 

management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the 

Company’s affairs, the Board has established four Board committees 

including the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the 

Remuneration Committee and the Investment Committee. The Board 

has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as set out in 

their respective terms of reference.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with 

applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the 

Company and the Shareholders at all times.

C1
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Board Composition
For the Year and up to latest practicable date prior to the printing of this 
annual report, the Board comprised the following directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Zhicong (Chairman) 
 (designated as Chairman with effect from 30 June 2025)
Ms. Zhang Yu
Ms. Zeng Yue Ying
 (appointed with effect from 22 January 2025)
Mr. Xu Chujia
 (resigned with effect from 30 June 2025)
Mr. Xu Chusheng
 (resigned with effect from 31 October 2024)
Mr. Yin Ying Cai 
 (appointed with effect from 4 June 2024 
 and resigned with effect from 30 October 2024)
Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith 
 (resigned with effect from 4 June 2024)

Non-executive Director

Ms. Tsim Ying Wah

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey
Mr. Ye Longfei
Mr. Yu Chor On

The names and biographical details of each existing director are 
disclosed on pages 16 to 19 of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, save and except Ms. Tsim Ying 
Wah is the sister-in-law of Mr. Xu Chujia, and Mr. Xu Zhicong is the son 
of Mr. Xu Chujia and a nephew of Ms. Tsim Ying Wah, there was no 
other relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) among members of the Board.

During the Year, the Company has been in compliance with the 
requirements under rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating 
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors 
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing 
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 
management expertise. The Company has also complied with rule 3.10A 
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-

executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

16
19

3.10(1)
3.10(2)

3.10A
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The Company believes that the diversity of the Board members will 

be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s 

performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board 

diversity policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining 

the composition of the Board, consider the Board diversity in terms 

of, among other things, age, cultural and educational background, 

professional experience, skills and knowledge. The Board diversity 

policy sets out the approach towards achieving diversity on the Board. 

Pursuant to the Board diversity policy, all Board appointments will be 

based on merits, and candidates will be considered against objective 

criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his 

independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company 

considers all of them to be independent.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have 

brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge 

and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective 

functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on 

the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 

Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the 

number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations 

and other significant commitments as well as the identity and the 

time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their 

commitments and any subsequent change to the Company in a timely 

manner.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT
Each Director was provided with the necessary training and information 

to ensure that he/she has proper understanding of the responsibilities 

under the Listing Rules and the applicable law, rules and regulations. 

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional 

development courses and seminars to develop and refresh their 

knowledge and skills. The Company will continue to arrange suitable 

training and regular seminars to provide the Directors with updates on 

the latest developments and changes in the Listing Rules and other 

relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.

3.13
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(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

Ms. Zeng Yue Ying had obtained advice from the Company’s legal 

advisor on 22 January 2025 and had confirmed that she understood her 

obligations as a director of the Company prior to his/her appointment.

According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of trainings 

received by the Directors for the Year is as follows:

Note

Attended Seminar 

or Briefing/

Read Material

    

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Zhicong ✓

Ms. Zhang Yu ✓

Ms. Zeng Yue Ying (1) ✓

Mr. Xu Chujia (2) ✓

Mr. Xu Chusheng (3) ✓

Mr. Yin Ying Cai (4) ✓

Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith (5) ✓

Non-executive Director

Ms. Tsim Ying Wah ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey ✓

Mr. Ye Longfei ✓

Mr. Yu Chor On ✓

Notes:

(1) The Director was appointed with effect from 22 January 2025.

(2) The Director resigned with effect from 30 June 2025.

(3) The Director resigned with effect from 31 October 2024.

(4) The Director was appointed with effect from 4 June 2024 and resigned 
with effect from 30 October 2024.

(5) The Director resigned with effect from 4 June 2024.
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C.2.1

C.2.1

16.18

16.2 16.3

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and 

chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the 

same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman 

and the chief executive should be clearly established and set out in 

writing. Since the resignation of Mr. Yin Ying Cai on 30 October 2024, 

the Company did not have any chief executive. The Company had 

complied with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code during the Year 

and up to the date of this report. Mr. Xu Zhicong is the Chairman of the 

Board. The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and governance 

for the Board while the chief executive is responsible for day-to-day 

management of the Group’s business.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the 

Company for a term of one year commencing from their respective 

date of appointment subject to termination as provided in the service 

contract.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive 

Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term 

of one year commencing from their respective date of appointment.

The appointments of executive Directors, non-executive Directors and 

independent non-executive Directors are subject to the provisions of 

retirement and rotation of Directors under the articles of association 

of the Company (the “Articles”) and the applicable Listing Rules. The 

procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of 

Directors are set out in the Articles.

In accordance with the article 16.18 of the Articles, at every annual 

general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their 

number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, 

but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided 

that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall 

be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any 

Director appointed pursuant to article 16.2 or article 16.3 of the Articles 

shall not be taken into account in determining which Directors are to 

retire by rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close 

of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election 

thereat. The Company at any annual general meeting at which any 

Directors retire may fill the vacated office by electing a like number of 

persons to be Directors.
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BOARD MEETINGS, GENERAL MEETINGS AND 
ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS
The Company intends to hold Board meetings regularly, at least four 

times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not 

less than fourteen days will be given for all regular Board meetings to 

provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in 

the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice 

is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are 

dispatched to the Directors or Board committee members at least 

three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time 

to review the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. 

When the Directors or Board committee members are unable to attend 

a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and 

given an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior 

to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company secretary 

with copies circulated to all Directors/Board committee members for 

information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are 

recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board 

and the Board committees and the decisions reached, including any 

concerns raised by the Directors/Board committee members. Draft 

minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee meeting are/

will be sent to the Directors/Board committee members for comments 

within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held. 

Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by Directors.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the 

Board which the Board has determined to be material, such Director 

shall abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions and he/she shall not 

be counted as a quorum in the Board meeting discussing the matter 

concerned.
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(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

Set out below are details of the attendance record of each of the 

Directors at the Board and committee meetings of the Company held 

during the Year:

Attendance/Number of Meetings Held

Regular Audit Nomination Remuneration Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee General

Notes Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

        

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Zhicong 8/8 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Ms. Zhang Yu 8/8 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Ms. Zeng Yue Ying (1) 1/1 N/A N/A N/A 0/0

Mr. Xu Chujia (2) 8/8 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Xu Chusheng (3) 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Yin Ying Cai (4) 2/2 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith (5) 0/0 N/A N/A N/A 0/0

Non-executive Director

Ms. Tsim Ying Wah 8/8 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1

Independent Non-executive 

Directors

Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey 8/8 2/2 N/A 2/2 1/1

Mr. Ye Longfei 8/8 2/2 1/1 2/2 1/1

Mr. Yu Chor On 8/8 2/2 1/1 N/A 1/1

Notes:

(1) The Director was appointed with effect from 22 January 2025.

(2) The Director resigned with effect from 30 June 2025.

(3) The Director resigned with effect from 31 October 2024.

(4) The Director was appointed with effect from 4 June 2024 and resigned 
with effect from 30 October 2024.

(5) The Director resigned with effect from 4 June 2024.



27兆邦基生活控股有限公司 • 二零二五年年報

Corporate Governance Report
企業管治報告

 

C3

 

3.22

D.3

GENERAL MEETING
The annual general meeting of the Company for the Year is scheduled 

to be held on 15 August 2025.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR 
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions 

by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 

C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities 

transactions by the Directors. The Company has made enquiries to all 

Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code.

All the Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the 

required standard set out in the Model Code during the Year.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND 
MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for all major matters of the Company, including 

approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and 

budgets, internal control and risk management systems, financial 

information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial and 

operational matters. Directors could have recourse to seek independent 

professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s 

expense.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are 

delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and 

responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to 

be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered 

into by the management.

BOARD COMMITTEE
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was established on 23 January 2017, with 

specific written terms of references in accordance with rule 3.22 of the 

Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. During the Year, the 

Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Yu Chor On 

(Chairman), Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey and Mr. Ye Longfei, all of them 

are independent non-executive Directors for the Year.
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1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

3.21

3.10(2)

• 

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include without limitation to 

the following:

1. to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, 

reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve 

the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, 

and any questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

2. to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s policies 

and procedures regarding internal controls (including financial, 

operational and compliance controls), risk management system 

and any statement by the Directors to be included in the annual 

accounts prior to endorsement by the Board;

3. to review the financial statements and to have familiarity with the 

financial reporting principles and practices applied by the Group in 

preparing its financial statements; and

4. to rev iew external audi tor’s independence, object iv i ty, 

effectiveness of the audit process and the scope of the external 

audit, including the engagement letter. The Audit Committee 

should understand the factors considered by the external auditor 

in determining their audit scope. The external audit fees are 

to be negotiated by management, and presented to the Audit 

Committee for review and approval annually.

The Company has complied with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in that 

the Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members 

and must be chaired by an independent non-executive Director who 

possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or 

related financial management expertise as required in rule 3.10(2) of the 

Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are 

available on the websites of the Company.

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year 

is set out as follows:

• Reviewed with the senior management and finance in-charge and/

or the external auditors the accounting principles and practices 

adopted by the Group, the accuracy and fairness of the annual 

financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 and interim 

financial report for the six months ended 30 September 2024 

respectively;
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• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

• Met with the external auditors and reviewed their work and 

findings relating to the annual audit for the year ended 31 March 

2024 and the effectiveness of the audit process;

• Reviewed with management and f inance-in-charge the 

effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group;

• Approved the internal audit plan for the Year and internal audit 

report for the year ended 31 March 2024;

• Reviewed the external auditors’ independence, approved the 

engagement of external auditors and recommended to the Board 

on the re-appointment of external auditors;

• Reviewed the financial reporting and compliance procedures 

and the report from the management on the Company’s internal 

control systems and processes; and

• Reviewed the requirements on the Environmental, Social and 

Governance Reporting Guide under the Listing Rules and the 

Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report 

of the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Function
The Audit Committee has been appointed by the Board to perform the 

corporate governance function. During the Year, the Audit Committee (i) 

reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure 

in the Corporate Governance Report; (ii) reviewed and monitored 

the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and 

regulatory requirements; (iii) developed, determined and renewed the 

Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and made 

recommendations to the Board; and (iv) reviewed and monitored the 

training and continuous professional development of the Directors and 

senior management.
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1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee was established on 23 January 2017, with 

specific written terms of references in compliance with paragraph B.3 of 

the CG Code. During the Year, the Nomination Committee comprised of 

three members, including one non-executive Director namely Ms. Tsim 

Ying Wah, and two independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Ye 

Longfei (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Chor On for the Year.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, 

knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and 

make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board 

to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the 

Board, and select or make recommendations to the Board on the 

selection of individuals nominated for directorship. In identifying 

suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall consider 

candidates on merit and against the objective criteria, with due 

regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

3. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or 

reappointment of Directors, and succession planning for Directors, 

in particular, the chairman and the chief executive;

4. to identify and nominate candidates to fill casual vacancies of 

Directors for the Board’s approval; and

5. to assess the independence of independent non-executive 

Directors, and review the independent non-executive Directors’ 

annual confirmations on their independence; and make disclosure 

of its review results in the corporate governance report.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on 

criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and 

effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations 

of the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. 

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are 

available on the website of the Company.
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• 

• 

• 

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee during 

the Year is set out as follows:

• Reviewed and discussed on the exist ing structure, size, 

composition and diversity of the Board to ensure that it has 

a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for 

the requirements for the business of the Group and that it is in 

compliance with the requirements under the Listing Rules;

• Assessed the independence of the independent non-executive 

Directors; and

• Recommended the re-appointment of retiring Directors at the 

annual general meeting for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Policy for Nomination of Directors
It is the policy of the Nomination Committee to adopt the following 

procedure, process and criteria for selecting and recommending 

candidates for directorships.

Selection Criteria
The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend 

candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration 

to a wide range of criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity 

on the Board, including but not limited to gender, age, experience, 

cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how, 

sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties, their services on 

other listed and non-listed companies (if any, which should be limited 

to reasonable numbers), qualifications including accomplishment and 

experience in the relevant industries the Company’s business is involved 

in, independence, reputation for integrity, potential contributions that the 

individual(s) can bring to the Board and commitment to enhance and 

maximise value for Shareholders.
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(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

(f) 

Nomination Procedure and Process
The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the 

appointment of a Director in accordance with the following procedure 

and process:

(a) by giving due consideration to the current composition and size 

of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives and 

experience at the outset to focus the search effort;

(b) consult any source it deems appropriate in identifying or selecting 

suitable candidates, such as referrals from existing directors, 

advertising, recommendations from independent agency firms, 

and proposals from shareholders of the Company, with due 

consideration given to the criteria set out in the section titled 

“Selection Criteria” above;

(c) adopt any process it deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability 

of the candidates, such as interviews, background checks, 

presentations and third-party reference checks;

(d) upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the 

Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of 

written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation 

to the Board for appointment;

(e) make the recommendation to the Board in relation to the 

proposed appointment and the proposed remuneration package; 

and

(f) the Board will have the final authority on determining the selection 

of nominees. The ultimate decision of Board appointment will be 

based on reputation and contribution that the selected candidates 

will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy on 

a regular basis and discuss any revisions that might be required, and 

recommend to the Board for consideration and approval.
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3.26

E.1

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established on 23 January 2017, 

with specific written terms of references with rule 3.26 of the Listing 

Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. During the Year, the 

Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including two 

independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey 

(Chairman) and Mr. Ye Longfei and one non-executive Director namely 

Ms. Tsim Ying Wah for the Year.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include without 

limitation to the following:

1. to formulate remuneration policy for approval by the Board, 

which shall take into consideration factors such as salaries paid 

by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibility, 

employment conditions elsewhere in the Group, and individual 

performance of the Directors, senior management, and the 

general staff. Performance shall be measured against corporate 

goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time; and 

implement the remuneration policy laid down by the Board;

2. to recommend to the Board the policy and structure for the 

remuneration of Directors, chief executive and senior management 

members, whilst ensuring no Director or any of his associates, or 

any senior management members is involved in deciding his own 

remuneration;

3. to determine the remuneration of executive Directors, chief 

executive and senior management members, including benefits 

in kind, pension r ight, compensation payment (including 

compensation for loss of office or appointment etc). The chairman 

and/or the chief executive of the Company shall be consulted 

respectively about their proposals relating to the remuneration of 

the chief executive of the Company and/or senior management 

members, as the case may be;

4. to review and approve the compensat ion arrangements 

in connection with any loss or termination of their office or 

appointment to executive Directors and senior management which 

shall be consistent with contractual terms, and otherwise fair and 

not excessive;
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5. 

6. 

7. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

5. to review and approve the compensation arrangements in 

connection with any dismissal or removal for misconduct to 

Directors and senior management which shall be consistent with 

contractual terms, and otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

6. to determine the criteria for assessing employee performance, 

which should reflect the Company’s business objectives and 

targets; and

7. to consider the annual performance bonus for executive Directors, 

senior management members, and the general staff, having 

regard to their achievements against the performance criteria, and 

by reference to market norms, and make recommendation to the 

Board.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are 

available on the website of the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee 

during the Year is set out as follows:

• Reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the Company;

• Determined the policy for the remuneration of the executive 

Directors;

• Assessed the performance of executive Directors;

• Approved the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts;

• Reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration 

packages (including discretionary bonus) of Directors and senior 

management of the Company for the Year; and

• Reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration 

packages regarding the appointment of the new Directors of the 

Company.
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15

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 15 to the 

consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The Group does 

not have other senior management.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee was established on 15 May 2017 with 

specific written terms of references. Up to 31 October 2024, the 

Investment Committee comprised two executive Directors, namely Mr. 

Xu Chujia and Mr. Xu Chusheng. From 31 October 2024, the Investment 

Committee comprised one executive Director Mr. Xu Chujia and one 

non-executive Director Ms. Tsim Ying Wah. 

The principal duties of the Investment Committee include without 

limitation the following:

1. to provide advice to the Board on investment of the Company, if 

required;

2. to advise on investment policies of the Company;

3. to identify, consult and engage such external professional adviser 

as investment manager or adviser to the Company on investment 

matters;

4. to make investment decisions for and on behalf of the Company 

in accordance with the investment policies adopted by the 

Company; and

5. to consider such other topics and matters relating to the 

investment of the Company as may be requested by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Investment Committee are 

available on the website of the Company.



36 Annual Report 2025 • Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

Corporate Governance Report

– 

– 

– 

1 3

24 82

(a) 

(b) 

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
Diversity
Board Diversity Policy

The Board recognises the importance of its diversity in relation to its 

business, and adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity 

Policy”). The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to achieve 

diversity on the Board, the summary of which is set out below:

– The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a 

diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance;

– In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been 

considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to 

gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional 

experience, skil ls, knowledge, experience and diversity of 

perspectives; and

– All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and 

candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having 

due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at 31 March 2025, the Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge, 

skills and experience. They obtained academic certificates, degrees and 

masters in various majors. As at 31 March 2025, the Board comprises 

4 executive Directors, 1 non-executive Director and 3 independent non-

executive Directors. Furthermore, the Board has a wide range of age, 

ranging from 24 years old to 82 years old.

Measurable Objectives

In terms of implementing the Board Diversity Policy, there are the 

following measurable objectives:

(a) to comply with the requirements as specified under the Listing 

Rules from time to time in relation to composition of the Board;

(b) the number of independent non-executive Directors appointed 

must not be less than three and must represents at least one-third 

of the Board;
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(c) at least one of the independent non-executive Directors must have 

appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related 

financial management expertise; and

(d) must appoint a Director of a different gender on or before the year 

ended 2025 to avoid single gender board.

As at 31 March 2025, all the measurable objectives under the Board 

Diversity Policy have been fulfilled.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Board reviews the Board Diversity Policy and the measurable 

objectives for implementing such policy on a regular basis and 

will review the progress on achieving these objectives, developing 

successors to the Board, and the implementation and effectiveness of 

the Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis.

Gender diversity of Workforce

Gender diversity at workforce levels (including our senior management) 

is disclosed in the Company’s “Environmental, Social and Governance 

Report” contained in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITY IN 
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of 

financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 

of the Group. In preparing the financial statements which give a true and 

fair view, it is fundamental that the appropriate accounting policies are 

selected and applied consistently. The reporting responsibilities of the 

Company’s external auditor on the consolidated financial statements of 

the Group are set out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 60 

to 70 of this annual report. The Directors were not aware of any material 

uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant 

doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.



38 Annual Report 2025 • Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

Corporate Governance Report

1.2

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The remuneration for the audit services and non-audit services provided 

by the Auditor to the Group during the Year amounted to HK$1.2 million 

and nil respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibilities of the Board
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s 

risk management and internal control systems and reviewing the 

effectiveness of such systems through the Audit Committee on annual 

basis. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight 

and corporate roles in the Group’s financial, operational, compliance, 

risk management, internal controls, while senior management designs, 

implements and monitors the risk management and internal control 

systems, and provide reports to the Board and the Audit Committee 

on the effectiveness of these systems. However, systems and internal 

controls can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 

against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage, 

rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business 

objectives.

Risk Management and Assessment
The Company has established formal risk assessment criteria for the 

Group. Senior management identify risks that potentially impact the 

key processes of their operations on an annual basis. Risks are scored 

and ranked by their impact on the business and the likelihood of their 

occurrence. Senior management assess the effectiveness of the existing 

controls and formulate risk mitigating activities. Results of the annual risk 

assessment are reported to the Audit Committee, including amongst 

other things, significant risks of the Group and the appropriate control 

activities to mitigate and/or transfer the identified risks.

Internal Control
The Company has established defined levels of responsibilities and 

reporting procedures. Controls have been designed and established to 

ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal, 

financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with 

relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements, 

and key risks that may impact on the Group’s performance are identified 

and assessed.
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The Company has internal audit function which is primarily responsible 

for developing various internal control manuals and procedures, 

conducting reviews on the key operational processes and the 

related internal controls to ensure compliance with the Group’s risk 

management and internal control policies and procedures.

During the Year, the Company has engaged an external consultant 

to conduct a review over the Group’s internal controls over financial 

reporting. Senior management has taken certain immediate remedial 

actions accordingly and has refined certain internal control procedures 

in due course. Issues ident i f ied were fol lowed up for proper 

implementation.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the effectiveness 

of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on 

an ongoing basis. The Directors through the Audit Committees are 

kept informed of significant risks that may impact on the Group’s 

performance. For the Year, the Board considered the risk management, 

internal control systems and internal audit function of the Group to 

be effective and adequate. The Audit Committee has reviewed and 

is satisfied with the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and 

experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, 

and financial reporting function.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and 
Dissemination of Inside Information
The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant sections of the 

Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and the Listing Rules. 

An Inside Information Policy has been established to lay down practical 

guidelines on definition of inside information, compliance and reporting, 

disclosure and announcement of inside information. All members of 

the Board, senior management, head of departments, and staff who 

are likely to possess inside information are strictly bound by this policy. 

Staff who have access to inside information is required to keep the 

unpublished inside information confidential until relevant announcement 

is made. Failure to comply with such requirements may result in 

disciplinary actions.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board has adopted a dividend policy with no fixed dividend 

payouts. The actual dividend that the Board may recommend or declare 

in respect of any particular financial year or period is subject to a 

number of factors and at the discretion of the Board.

The Board will take into account the following factors when considering 

the payment of dividends:

(a) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b) the level of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the 

Company;

(c) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and 

the relevant financial covenants;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by 

the Group’s lenders;

(e) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future 

expansion plans;

(f) general economic conditions, and other internal or external factors 

that may have an impact on the business or financial performance 

and position of the Company; and

(g) any other factors deemed relevant by the Board.

The payment of dividends is also subject to any restrictions under the 

laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time.



41兆邦基生活控股有限公司 • 二零二五年年報

Corporate Governance Report
企業管治報告

3.29 15

 

(www.szzhaobangji.com)

COMPANY SECRETARY
The role of the company secretary of the Company was performed by 

Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith during the Year.

The company secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board’s 

communications among Board members, the Shareholders and the 

management of the Company and ensuring the Board policies and 

procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules and regulations are 

followed.

Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith has confirmed that he took not less than 15 

hours of relevant professional training during the Year in compliance 

with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND 
INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company considers that effective communication with the 

Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and 

understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies. 

The Company also recognises the importance of timely and nonselective 

disclosure of information, which will enable the Shareholders and 

investors to make the informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a 

shareholders communication policy which aims at establishing a 

two-way relationship and communication between the Company 

and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company 

at www.szzhaobangji.com, where up-to-date information on the 

Company’s business operat ions and developments, f inancial 

information, corporate governance practices and other information are 

available for public access.

Based on the above and the section headed “Shareholders’ rights” 

below, the Board considers that Company’s shareholder communication 

policy has been effectively implemented during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
We seriously take care the Shareholders’ interest to ensure that they 

are treated fairly and are able to exercise their Shareholders’ rights 

effectively. Shareholders are entitled by the Articles of the Company and 

are also encouraged to participate in the Company’s general meetings.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting
In accordance with the Articles, any two or more Shareholders, or 

any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house (or its 

nominee(s)), holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less 

than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of 

voting at general meetings shall have the right, by written requisition, to 

require an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to be called by the 

Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. 

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the company 

secretary of the Company which is situated at Unit 13–15, 11/F, 

China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168–200 Connaught Road 

Central, Hong Kong. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Directors 

fail to proceed to convene such meeting to be held within a further 21 

days, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same 

manner, provided that any EGM so convened shall not be held after the 

expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, 

and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result 

of the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) 

by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals by 
Shareholders at Shareholders’ meeting
To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a 

Shareholder should lodge a written notice of the proposal (“Proposal”) 

with his/her/its detailed contact information at the Company’s 

headquarters and principal place of business of the Company in Hong 

Kong at Unit 13–15, 11/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 

168–200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, with a copy of the 

Proposal served to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar at their 

respective address.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong share 

registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in 

order, the Board will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda for 

the general meeting.
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Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the 

Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters 

of the Company at Unit 13–15, 11/F China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak 

Centre, 168–200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT
During the Year, the Company did not amend its constitutional 

document.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The 

Group is principally engaged in trading of machinery and spare parts, 

leasing of machinery and the provision of related services, provision of 

transportation services and money lending business in Hong Kong and 

the provision of property management services, leasing of machinery, 

property leasing, subletting, retail and other businesses and money 

lending in the PRC. Details of the principal activities of the principal 

subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 22 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
The review of the business of the Group during the Year and the 

discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out 

in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management 

Discussion and Analysis”, and the description of principal risks and 

uncertainties facing the Group and key financial performance indicators 

are set out in the section headed, “Management Discussion and 

Analysis”. The financial risk management objectives and policies of the 

Group are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end 

of the Year are set out in the section headed “Events after the Reporting 

Period” in this report of the Directors. The contents of all the above 

mentioned sections form parts of the business review as contained in 

this report of the Directors.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s relationships with key 

stakeholders, environmental policies and performance and compliance 

with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on 

the Group are as follows:

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS
The Group’s success depends on the support from key stakeholders 

which comprise employees, customers and suppliers.

22

6
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Employees
The Group is committed to establish a close and caring relationship 

with its employees. The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, 

promotes diversity to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and 

benefits and career development opportunities based on their merits 

and performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide 

adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so 

that they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market and 

the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance and self-

fulfillment in their positions.

Customers and suppliers
Our major customers include some of the major main contractors in 

Hong Kong, and meanwhile we directly source machinery from some 

overseas manufacturers. Many of our five largest customers and 

suppliers have established long term business relationship with us. We 

believe that such long term relationships represent confidence and trust 

from our business partners and acknowledgement of our ability.

The Group is able to build up close working relationship with our 

business partners and bring together our customers and suppliers to 

develop foundation technology. The Directors have frequent interactions 

with our customers regarding their feedbacks on the quality of our 

products which would then be reflected to our suppliers by us. Through 

this solid communication channel together with our experienced 

management team, the Directors believe that we are able to better 

understand our customers’ needs as well as the market trend in order 

to make appropriate modifications or improvements to our products. 

In particular, we would reflect the market needs to our suppliers 

who would then make modifications based on our idea originations. 

Leveraging on our relationship, our major suppliers provide us technical 

and other support such as training on the function, operation and 

maintenance of their machinery. We believe our established relationship 

with suppliers also enable us to acquire various types of machinery to 

fulfil our customers needs in a timely manner and with favourable terms.

The Group also leases machinery from third party construction 

companies for which we would then sub-lease to our customers which, 

to the belief of the Directors, is of mutual benefit and would build up a 

closer business relationship between us and our customers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
We believe that our business also depends on our ability to meet our 

customers’ requirements in respect of safety, quality and environmental 

aspects. To meet our customers’ requirements on safety, quality 

and environmental aspects, we have established and implemented 

various quality control measures in our operation process. Through 

the systematic and effective control of our operations, compliance with 

safety, quality and environmental requirements can be further assured.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND 
REGULATIONS
The Directors confirmed that during the Year and up to the date of 

this annual report, the Group had obtained all the registrations and 

certifications required for its business and operations, and had complied 

with (a) the applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong; and (b) the 

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the 

Group.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this 

report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Zhicong (Chairman) 

 (designated as Chairman with effect from 30 June 2025)

Ms. Zhang Yu

Ms. Zeng Yue Ying 

 (appointed with effect from 22 January 2025)

Mr. Xu Chujia 

 (resigned with effect from 30 June 2025)

Mr. Xu Chusheng 

 (resigned with effect from 31 October 2024)

Mr. Yin Ying Cai 

 (appointed with effect from 4 June 2024 and 

 resigned with effect from 30 October 2024)

Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith 

 (resigned with effect from 4 June 2024)

Non-executive Director

Ms. Tsim Ying Wah

 

(a)

(b)
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16.18

3.13

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey

Mr. Ye Longfei

Mr. Yu Chor On

Information regarding directors’ emoluments are set out in note 15 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed 

“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this report

Pursuant to article 16.18 of the Articles, at every annual general meeting 

of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their 

number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, 

but not less than, one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided 

that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall 

be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A 

retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which 

he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The Company at 

any annual general meeting at which any Directors retire may fill the 

vacated office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

Accordingly, Ms. Zeng Yue Ying, Mr. Xu Zhicong, Ms. Zhang Yu and Mr. 

Yu Chor On will retire from office as Directors at the forthcoming annual 

general meeting of the Company. All the said Directors, being eligible, 

will offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive 

Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant 

to rule3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the 

independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT
Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with 

our Company which is initially for a fixed term of 1 year, commencing 

from the date of appointment, and shall continue thereafter until 

terminated by not less than one month written notice to the other party. 

Each of our non-executive Directors and independent non-executive 

Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with our Company 

which is initially for a fixed term of 1 year, commencing from the date of 

appointment. The appointment is subject to termination under certain 

circumstances as stipulated in the said letter of appointment, and the 

provisions of the Articles with regard to vacation of office of Directors, 

removal and retirement by rotation of Directors.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual 

general meeting has a service agreement which is not determinable by 

the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other 

than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES
At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means 

of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted 

to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, 

or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its 

holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party 

to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any 

other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN 
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS
Save for the continuing connected transactions as disclosed in the 

sections headed “Related Party Transactions” of this report, no Director 

nor an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, either 

directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of 

significance subsisting during or at the end of the Year.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save for the connected transactions and the continuing connected 

transactions as disclosed in the sections headed and “Related Party 

Transactions and Connected Transactions” and “Continuing Connected 

Transactions”, respectively, of this annual report, no contract of 

significance between the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) and a 

controlling shareholder of the Company (or any of its subsidiaries), or 

contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company (or 

any of its subsidiaries) by a controlling shareholder of the Company (or 

any of its subsidiaries) subsisted during or at the end of the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
A permitted indemnity provision as defined in the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance was in force for an indemnity against a liability 

incurred by Directors during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” 

below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or 

existed during the Year.



50 Annual Report 2025 • Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

Report of the Directors

352

XV

1. 
6,195,000,000

2. B o a r d w i n  R e s o u r c e s 
Limited 58.53% Boardwin 
Resources Limited 3,804,096,000

61.41%

Boardwin Resources Limited

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 March 2025, the interests of the Directors and the chief 

executive of the Company in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) 

or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the 

SFO) as recorded in the registered required to be kept under section 

352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock 

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long position in the shares

Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of 

shares held

Percentage of 

shareholding(note 2)

2

    

Mr. Xu Chujia (note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 3,804,096,000 61.41%
2

Notes:

1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the number 
of issued Shares as at 31 March 2025 of 6,195,000,000. 

2. Mr. Xu Chujia owned 58.53% of the issued share capital of Boardwin 
Resources Limited, which beneficially owned 3,804,096,000 Shares, 
representing approximately 61.41% of the issued share capital of the 
Company. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xu Chujia is deemed to be interested 
in the Shares in which Boardwin Resources Limited were interested.
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Boardwin Resources 
Limited 1

1. Boardwin Resources L im i ted
3,804,096,000

61.41% Boardwin Resources 
Limited XV

2. Boardwin Resources Limited

312,736,500

352

XV

Long position in the shares of Boardwin Resources 
Limited, an associated corporation (note 1)

Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of 

shares held

Percentage of 

shareholding(note 2)

2

    

Mr. Xu Chujia Beneficial owner 183,053,003 58.53%

Ms. Tsim Ying Wah Beneficial owner 6,254,730 2%

Notes:

1. Boardwin Resources Limited beneficially owned 3,804,096,000 Shares, 
representing approximately 61.41% of the total issued Shares as at 31 
March 2025. As such, Boardwin Resources Limited was an associated 
corporation of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

2. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the number 
of issued shares of Boardwin Resources Limited as at 31 March 2025 of 
312,736,500 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors of 

the Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying 

shares or debentures of the Company or any associated corporation 

(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register 

required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise 

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model 

Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 March 2025, the interests of persons, other than Directors 

or the chief executive of the Company, in the Shares as recorded in 

the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as 

follows:

Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of 

Shares held

Percentage of 

shareholding (note 1)

1

    

Boardwin Resources Limited Beneficial owner 3,804,096,000 61.41%

Ms. Zhang Meijuan (note 2) Interest of spouse 3,804,096,000 61.41%
2

Notes:

1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the number 
of issued Shares as at 31 March 2025 of 6,195,000,000.

2. Ms. Zhang Meijuan is the spouse of Mr. Xu Chujia, who owned 58.53% 
of the issued share capital of Boardwin Resources Limited, which in turn 
beneficially owned 3,804,096,000 Shares, representing approximately 
61.41% of the issued share capital of the Company. By virtue of the SFO, 
Mr. Xu Chujia was deemed to be interested in the Shares by virtue of 
his interest in a corporation and Ms. Zhang Meijuan was deemed to be 
interested in the Shares in which Mr. Xu Chujia was interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, no persons, other than 

the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, had any interest 

or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the 

register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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1. 

2. 
 

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company’s share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was 

adopted pursuant to the written resolutions passed on 23 January 

2017. From the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and 

up to the end of the reporting period, no share option has been granted, 

or agreed to be granted, under the Share Option Scheme.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide 

participants of the Share Option Scheme (the “Participants”) with 

the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company 

and to encourage Participants to work towards enhancing 

the value of the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the 

Company and its Shareholders as a whole. The Share Option 

Scheme shall provide the Company with a flexible means of either 

retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, compensating 

and/or providing benefits to Participants.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme and 
the Basis of Determining the Eligibility of the 
Participants
On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the 

requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board may offer to grant 

an option, to any Director(s) (including executive Directors, and 

independent non-executive Directors) and full-time employee(s) 

of any member of the Group and any advisers, consultants, 

contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, agents, customers, 

business partners, joint venture business partners, service 

providers of any member of the Group who the Board considers, 

in its absolute discretion and on such terms as it deems fit, grants 

options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to.
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3. Grant of options
On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and 

the requirements of the Listing Rules (in particular as to grant of 

options to Directors, chief executives and substantial shareholders 

of our Company or their respective associates), the Board shall 

be entitled at any time within 10 years after the date of adoption 

of the Share Option Scheme to make an offer for the grant of 

an option to any Participant as the Board may in its absolute 

discretion select. The offer shall specify the terms on which 

the option is granted. Such terms may include any minimum 

periods for which an option must be held and/or any minimum 

performance targets that must be reached, before the options can 

be exercised in whole or in part, and may include at the discretion 

of the Board other terms imposed (or not imposed) either on a 

case by case basis or generally.

4. Payment on acceptance of option offer
An offer shall remain open for acceptance by the Participant 

concerned for a period of 14 days from the date of the offer. 

HK$1.00 is payable by the Participant who accepts an offer of 

the grant of an option in accordance with the terms of the Share 

Option Scheme (the “Grantee”) to our Company on acceptance 

of the offer of the option.

5. Subscription price
The subscription price shall be such price as the Board may 

in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of the 

relevant option but the subscription price shall not be less than 

the highest of: (a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the 

Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; 

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock 

Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days 

immediately preceding the date of grant (provided that in the 

event that any option is proposed to be granted within a period 

of less than 5 business days after the trading of the Shares first 

commences on the Stock Exchange, the new issue price of the 

Shares for the offer of new Shares shall be used as the closing 

price for any business day falling within the period before listing of 

the Shares on the Stock Exchange); and (c) the nominal value of a 

Share on the date of grant.
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6. 

10

7. 
(a) 

30%

(b) 

600,000,000

10%

9.69%

(c) 

10%

6. Option period
The period within which the Shares must be taken up under an 

option shall be the period of time to be notified by the Board 

to each Grantee at the time of making an offer, which shall be 

determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of 

grant, but such period must not exceed 10 years from the date of 

grant of the relevant option.

7. Maximum number of Shares subject to options
(a) The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued 

upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet 

to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and other 

share option schemes of the Company (and to which the 

provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) 

must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to 

time;

(b) The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all 

options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme 

and other share option schemes of the Company (and to 

which the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules 

are applicable) shall not exceed 600,000,000 Shares, 

representing 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on 

the Listing Date and approximately 9.69% of the number of 

issued Shares as at the date of this report of the Directors 

(the “Scheme Mandate Limit”);

(c) The Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit at 

any time subject to prior Shareholders’ approval. However, 

the Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed shall not exceed 

10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the aforesaid 

Shareholders’ approval. Options previously granted under 

the Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes 

of our Company (and to which the provisions of Chapter 

17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) (including those 

outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with its terms 

or exercised), shall not be counted for the purpose of 

calculating the limit as refreshed;
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(e) 12

1%

12

8. 

9. 
17

600,000,000

(d) The Company may also seek separate Shareholders’ 

approval for granting options beyond the Scheme Mandate 

Limit to Participants specifically identified by the Company 

before the aforesaid Shareholders’ meeting where such 

approval is sought; and

(e) The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon 

exercise of the options granted to each Participant (including 

both exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 

12 month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue 

(the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options to a 

Participant which would result in the Shares issued, and to 

be issued, upon exercise of all options granted, and to be 

granted to such Participant (including exercised, cancelled 

and outstanding options) in the 12 month period up to and 

including the date of grant of such further options exceeding 

the Individual Limit shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval 

in advance, with such Participant and his close associates 

(or his associates if such participant is a connected person) 

abstaining from voting.

8. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
As at 31 March 2025, the remaining life of the Share Option 

Scheme was approximately 2 years 10 months (expiring on 22 

January 2027).

9. Vesting period
The vesting period for options shall comply with the provisions of 

Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, no options had been granted, exercised or cancelled or 

had lapsed under the Share Option Scheme. There were no outstanding 

options under the Share Option Scheme as at 1 April 2024 and 31 

March 2025. The number of options available for grant under the Share 

Option Scheme was 600,000,000 as at 1 April 2024 and as at 31 March 

2025.
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42
14A

14A

14A

8.10

16

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group 
during the Year are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial 
statements, and they fall under the definition of “connected transaction” 
or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules. Nevertheless, these related party transactions are not connected 
transactions or continuing connected transactions which are not exempt 
from reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 
The Company has complied with all applicable disclosure requirements 
in respect of the connected transactions and continuing connected 
transactions of the Group in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the 
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were 
entered into or existed during the Year.

COMPETING BUSINESS
During the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders 
and their respective associates had any interests in a business, apart 
from the business of the Group, which competes or may compete with 
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interest with the 
Group which would be required to be disclosed under rule 8.10 of the 
Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was set up by 
the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence. 
The emolument of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration 
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual 
performance and comparable market statistics. The Company has 
adopted a Share Option Scheme as an incentive to eligible persons, 
details are set out under heading “Share Option Scheme” in this annual 
report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the Group’s retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 16 
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the 
laws of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company 
was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares 
on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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183.9 188.7

TAX RELIEF
The Directors are not aware of any tax rel ief avai lable to the 

Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to 

HK$1.0 million (2024: nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for distribution 

calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law of 

the Cayman Islands amounted to approximately HK$183.9 million (2024: 

HK$188.7 million).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and 

within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual 

report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float throughout 

the Year as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of the Group’s turnover and purchases attributable 

to the major customers and suppliers during the Year and the Previous 

Year were as follows:

For the year ended

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

    

Percentage of turnover

From the largest customer 8.3% 12.3%

From the five largest customers in aggregate 23.3% 32.5%

Percentage of purchase

From the largest supplier 28.5% 25.8%

From the five largest suppliers in aggregate 81.7% 76.7%
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5% 

None of the Company’s directors, their close associates, or any 

shareholder (which to the knowledge of the directors own more than 

5% of the number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the 

Company) have interest in the suppliers or customers disclosed in the 

table above.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
No important events affecting the Group have occurred since the end of 

the Year.

DIVIDENDS
Any declaration of dividends will depend upon a number of factors 

including the earnings and financial conditions, operating requirements, 

capital requirements and any other conditions that our Directors 

consider relevant and will be subject to the approval of our shareholders. 

There is no assurance that dividends of any amount will be declared or 

distributed in any given year.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the 

Year (2024: Nil).

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited by 

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, who will retire and, being eligible, 

offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Xu Chujia

Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025



60

Independent Auditor’s Report

Annual Report 2025 • Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhaobangji 

Lifestyle Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(together the “Group”) set out on pages 71 to 203, which comprise the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 

to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting 

policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 

fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 

March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 

consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly 

prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 

Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of 

our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 

HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), 

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

71 203
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, 

were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, 

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters.

The key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

Refer to notes 4(d), 5(b)(iii) and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

4(d) 5(b)(iii) 19
 

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had property, plant 

and equipment of approximately HK$67.2 million and 

impairment loss of approximately HK$19.1 million was 

recognised during the year ended 31 March 2025. At 

each reporting date, the Group assess whether there are 

indicators of impairment and if there are such indicators, 

an estimate is made of the recoverable amount of the 

property, plant and equipment concern. The Group 

performed impairment assessment based on the cashflow 

forecasts on each of cash generated unit.

 

67.2

19.1

 

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s 

impairment assessment included:

• Assessing the reasonableness of the bases and 

assumptions adopted in the valuation for estimating 

the value in use of the cashflow forecasts on the 

each of cash generated unit;

• 

• Challenging the assumptions about revenue growth 

rates and discount rates and the respective effect to 

the Group’s each of cash generated unit;

•  
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The key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

Refer to notes 4(d), 5(b)(iii) and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

4(d) 5(b)(iii) 19
 

We identified impairment assessment of property, plant 

and equipment as a key audit matter due to the evaluation 

process is inherently subjective, and dependent on a 

number of estimates, including forecasted revenue, direct 

costs, revenue growth rates and discount rates.

• Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and 

relevance of the input data used;

• 

• Involving the internal valuation specialist to assess 

the discount rates and we performed a sensitivity 

analysis of revenue growth rates, direct costs and 

discount rates and considering the resulting impact 

on the impairment and whether there were any 

indicators of management bias.

• 
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The key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables, other receivables and loans receivable

Refer to notes 4(v), 5(b)(ii), 25, 26 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

4(v) 5(b)(ii) 25 26 27
 

At 31 March 2025, the Group had trade receivables, 

other receivables and loans receivable amounting to 

approximately HK$106.5 million, HK$20.9 million and 

HK$91.5 million, net of expected credit loss (“ECL”) 

allowance of approximately HK$32.7 million, HK$15.0 

million and HK$6.9 million, respectively.

 

106.5

20.9 91.5

32.7 15.0

6.9

The ECL calculations of financial assets at amortised 

cost under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) 

involved management’s significant judgement and high 

level of estimation uncertainty. It includes key assumptions 

such as probability of default rates, expected recovery 

rates in the event of loss-given default and forward-looking 

information specific to the debtors and the macroeconomic 

environment where the debtors are located.

9

9

Our audit procedures in relation to the ECL for trade 

receivables, other receivables and loans receivable 

included:

• Understanding the Group’s internal controls relating 

to the collection and use of the Group’s data for ECL 

estimation on trade receivables, other receivables 

and loans receivable;

•  

 

• Obtaining an ageing analysis and test ing the 

accuracy of the trade receivables at the reporting 

date to the underlying invoices on a sample basis;

• 
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The key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

Expected credit loss assessment of trade receivables, other receivables and loans receivable

Refer to notes 4(v), 5(b)(ii), 25, 26 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

4(v) 5(b)(ii) 25 26 27
 

We ident i f ied the ECL of trade receivables, other 

receivables and loans receivable as a key audit matter 

because of the significant judgement and high level of 

estimation uncertainty involved in the ECL calculations 

and the carrying amounts thereof are significant to the 

consolidated financial statements.

• Assessing the appropriateness of the ECL models by 

challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions 

and inputs used by the management in estimating 

the ECL, including evaluating the accuracy and 

relevance of the historical default rates and whether 

they are properly adjusted based on the recent credit 

loss experience and forward-looking information 

specific to the debtors and the macroeconomic 

environment where the debtors are located, with the 

assistance of our internal specialists;

• 

• Evaluating the reasonableness of disclosures relating 

to ECL on trade receivables, other receivables and 

loans receivable; and

• 

• Checking the mathematical accuracy of the ECL 

calculations.

• 
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The key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

Fair value measurement of financial assets through profit or loss on distressed asset

Refer to notes 5(b)(iv), 7(b) and 28(ii) to the consolidated financial statements.

5(b)(iv) 7(b) 28(ii)
 

As of 31 March 2025, the Group’s financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss on distressed asset amounting 

to approximately HK$57.0 million. A fair value loss of 

HK$12.8 million was recognised during the year ended 31 

March 2025.

 

57.0

12.8

The distressed asset was measured based on significant 

unobservable inputs and classified as “Level 3 financial 

instruments”. Management engaged the independent 

external valuers to assist to determine the fair value of 

distressed asset. The determination of the fair value of 

distressed asset required management to make judgments 

and estimates, including the expected recoverable 

amounts, year to recovery, and the discount rate, etc.

Our audit procedures in relation to fair value measurement 

of financial assets through profit or loss on distressed asset 

included:

• Understanding the design and implementation of 

the internal controls over assessing the fair value 

measurement of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss on distressed asset;

• 

• Assessing the competency, capability and objectivity 

of the independent external valuers for performing 

the fair value measurement of distressed asset by 

assessing their qualifications, relevant experience 

and relationship with the Group;

• 

 

• Invo lv ing aud i to r ’s exper ts to d iscuss w i th 

management and the independent external valuers 

and assess the appropriateness of valuat ion 

methodology and certain assumptions used;

• 
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The key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit

Fair value measurement of financial assets through profit or loss on distressed asset

Refer to notes 5(b)(iv), 7(b) and 28(ii) to the consolidated financial statements.

5(b)(iv) 7(b) 28(ii)
 

We identified the fair value measurement of financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss on distressed asset as 

a key audit matter because of the fair value is subject 

to high degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent 

risk in relation to the fair value assessment is considered 

significant due to subjectivity of significant assumptions 

used, and the carrying amounts thereof are significant to 

the consolidated financial statements.

• Evaluating the reasonableness of the underlying 

assumptions, such as expected recoverable 

amounts and the discount rate that corresponds to 

the expected risk level by comparing the rate used 

by the Group to those of comparable companies;

•  

• Checking the mathematical accuracy of the valuation 

calculations; and

• 

• Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures related 

to fair value measurement of financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss on distressed asset in the 

context of HKFRS Accounting Standards.

• 
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OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 

information comprises all the information included in the 2025 annual 

report of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial 

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover 

the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, 

our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 

or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 

we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 

of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 

nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 

HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the 

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 

enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are 

responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 

intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for 

overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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• 

• 

 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as 

a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for 

no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional 

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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• 

• 

 

 

• 

•  

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 

made by the directors.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going 

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 

our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 

future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 

continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation.

• plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate 

audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion 

on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for 

purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our 

audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit.
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28

11

P06622

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have 

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we 

determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore 

the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 

report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 

matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 

matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 

the public interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

30 June 2025

Lam Yau Hing

Practising Certificate No.: P06622
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2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue 8 197,899 267,691
Cost of sales and services (176,879) (226,378)     

Gross profit 21,020 41,313
Other gains and losses, net 9 (43,292) (13,690)
Expected credit losses (“ECL”) on 

financial assets, net (19,698) (17,485)
Selling expenses – (24)
Administrative expenses (44,637) (38,613)     

Loss from operations (86,607) (28,499)
Finance income 1,615 1,978
Finance costs (1,074) (1,662)     

Finance income, net 11 541 316     

Loss before income tax (86,066) (28,183)
Income tax credit 12 8,261 149     

Loss for the year 13 (77,805) (28,034)     

Other comprehensive (expense)/
income

Item that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating 
foreign operations (1,245) (7,931)

Release of reserve upon disposal of 
subsidiaries 504 –

Item that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss:

Fair value (loss)/gain on financial 
assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (2,827) 227     

Other comprehensive expense for 
the year, net of tax (3,568) (7,704)     

Total comprehensive expense for 
the year (81,373) (35,738)
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2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (77,805) (28,034)
Non-controlling interests – –     

(77,805) (28,034)
     

Total comprehensive expense for 
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (81,373) (35,741)
Non-controlling interests – 3     

(81,373) (35,738)
     

Loss per share for loss attributable 
to equity holders of the Company: 18

HK cents HK cents

Basic and diluted (1.26) (0.45)
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As at 31 March 2025 於二零二五年三月三十一日

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
綜合財務狀況表

兆邦基生活控股有限公司 • 二零二五年年報

2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 19 67,180 135,435

Right-of-use assets 20 15,047 22,044

Deferred tax assets 33 – 551

Goodwill 21 – –

Financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 23 2,168 5,003

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 28 56,966 70,389

Deposits, prepayments and other 

receivables 26 14,090 2,533

Loans receivable 27 12,569 73,039     

168,020 308,994
     

Current assets

Tax recoverable 1,589 2,426

Inventories 24 1,799 5,270

Trade receivables 25 106,482 94,035

Deposits, prepayments and  

other receivables 26 25,682 58,491

Loans receivable 27 78,938 3,389

Financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss 28 3,753 9,395

Amounts due from related  

companies 42 820 84

Bank and cash balances 29 28,882 34,278     

247,945 207,368
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 March 2025 

2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Current liabilities

Contract liabilities 30 5,783 9,460

Borrowings 31 2,677 7,482

Lease liabilities 32 15,202 20,824

Trade payables 34 24,565 21,140

Accruals and other payables 34 39,286 39,586

Amount due to a shareholder 42 1,918 1,825

Amounts due to related companies 42 3,750 133

Current tax liabilities 130 3     

93,311 100,453     

Net current assets 154,634 106,915     

Total assets less current liabilities 322,654 415,909
     

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 31 – 2,707

Lease liabilities 32 – 1,921

Deferred tax liabilities 33 5,293 12,596     

5,293 17,224     

NET ASSETS 317,361 398,685
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
綜合財務狀況表

As at 31 March 2025 於二零二五年三月三十一日

2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Capital and reserves attributable to 

owners of the Company

Share capital 35 12,390 12,390

Reserves 38 304,971 386,344     

Equity attributable to owners of the 

Company 317,361 398,734

Non-controlling interests – (49)     

TOTAL EQUITY 317,361 398,685
     

Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025 and are signed on 

its behalf by:

Mr. Xu Zhicong Ms. Tsim Ying Wah

Director Director
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Annual Report 2025 • Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

Attributable to owners of the Company

 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Merger 
reserve

Statutory 
reserve

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 

income reserve – 
non-recycling

Retained 
earnings Total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total equity

–

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 35) (note 38(b)) (note 38(b)) (note 38(b)) (note 38(b)) (note 38(b))
35 38(b) 38(b) 38(b) 38(b) 38(b)

            

At 1 April 2023 12,390 116,347 (2,147) 2,500 23,015 4,018 278,352 434,475 (52) 434,423

Total comprehensive 
(expense)/income for the 
year

Loss for the year – – – – – – (28,034) (28,034) – (28,034)
Other comprehensive (expense)/

income for the year
Exchange differences on 

translating foreign operations – – (7,934) – – – – (7,934) 3 (7,931)
Fair value gain on financial 

assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – – – – 227 – 227 – 227            

– – (7,934) – – 227 (28,034) (35,741) 3 (35,738)
            

At 31 March 2024 and  
1 April 2024

 
12,390 116,347 (10,081) 2,500 23,015 4,245 250,318 398,734 (49) 398,685

Total comprehensive income/
(expenses) for the year

Loss for the year – – – – – – (77,805) (77,805) – (77,805)
Other comprehensive (expense)/

income for the year
Exchange differences on 

translating foreign operations – – (1,245) – – – – (1,245) – (1,245)
Release of reserve upon 

disposal of subsidiaries – – 504 – – – – 504 – 504
Fair value loss on financial 

assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income – – – – – (2,827) – (2,827) – (2,827)            

– – (741) – – (2,827) (77,805) (81,373) – (81,373)            

Transactions with owner
Disposal of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – 49 49            

At 31 March 2025 12,390 116,347 (10,822) 2,500 23,015 1,418 172,513 317,361 – 317,361
            

The reserves accounts comprise the Group’s reserves of HK$304,971,000 (2024: 
HK$386,344,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 304,971,000 386,344,000
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
綜合現金流量表

兆邦基生活控股有限公司 • 二零二五年年報

2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before income tax (86,066) (28,183)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 40,242 43,195

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 22,480 27,361

Loss/(Gain) on disposals of property, 

plant and equipment 4,260 (4,319)

Gain on early termination of leases, 

net (255) –

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 394 –

ECL on financial assets, net

19,698 17,485

Written-off on property, plant and 

equipment 3,217 5,119

(Reversal of write down)/Written down 

of inventories (470) 1,684

Fair value loss on financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss, net 18,254 13,229

Impairment loss on property, plant 

and equipment

 

19,077 –

Interest income on loans receivable (4,889) (3,782)

Finance income (1,615) (1,978)

Finance costs 1,074 1,662     

Operating profit before working capital 

changes

 

35,401 71,473

Decrease in inventories 3,941 506

Increase in trade receivables (18,637) (9,082)

Decrease in financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 185 5,470

Decrease in deposits, prepayments and 

other receivables 23,288 173

(Increase)/Decrease in amounts due 

from related companies (736) 168

(Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities (3,613) 4,501

Increase in trade payables 3,543 3,657

Increase in accruals and other payables

76 15,382     
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2025 

2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Cash generated from operations 43,448 92,248

Income tax refund/(paid) 2,475 (8,236)     

Net cash from operating activities 45,923 84,012     

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest income on bank deposits 695 642

Additions of deposits for acquisition 

property, plant and equipment (14,000) –

Purchase of property, plant and 

equipment (8,472) (41,086)

Proceeds from disposals of property, 

plant and equipment 9,885 12,325

Net cash inflow from disposal of 

subsidiaries

 

(51) –

Loans advances to borrowers (24,774) (33,544)

Loans receipts from borrowers 13,062 3,996     

Net cash used in investing activities (23,655) (57,667)     
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
綜合現金流量表

For the year ended 31 March 2025 截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings 39(b) (7,491) (14,810)

Payment of lease liabilities 39(b) (22,772) (14,393)

Advance received from related parties 39(b) 3,618 –

Repayment to related parties 39(b) – (5,830)

Advance received from a shareholder 39(b) 93 1,825

Interest paid 39(b) (1,074) (1,662)     

Net cash used in financing activities (27,626) (34,870)     

Net decrease in cash and cash 

equivalents

 

(5,358) (8,525)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  

(38) (442)     

Cash and cash equivalents at 

beginning of the year 34,278 43,245
     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of 

the year, represented by bank and 

cash balances 28,882 34,278
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Annual Report 2025 • Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was 

incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The 

address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, 

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The address of 

its principal place of business is Unit 13–15, 11th Floor, China 

Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road 

Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main 

Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal 

activit ies of its subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company as at 31 March 

2025, Boardwin Resources Limited, a company incorporated in 

the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), is the immediate holding company 

and Mr. Xu Chujia is the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the 

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), 

which collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRS 

accounting standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards 

and Interpretations (“HKFRS Accounting Standards”) and 

the accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. 

These consolidated financial statements also include applicable 

disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the 

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

1. 

P.O. Box 309, 

Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-

1104, Cayman Islands

168–200

11 13–15

22

Boardwin Resources Limited

2. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 March 2025 截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

2. 

4

3

5

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
The material accounting policies that have been used in the 

preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 

summarised in note 4. These policies have been consistently 

applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The 

adoption of new or amended HKFRS Accounting Standards and 

the impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial statements, if 

any, are disclosed in note 3.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

under the historical cost basis, except for financial assets at fair 

value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), which are 

stated at fair values.

The preparat ion of consol idated f inancial statements in 

accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the 

use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 

management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 

the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher 

degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions 

and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 

statements are disclosed in note 5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 

3. 

 

16

1

5

1

7

7

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Amended HKFRS Accounting Standards that are 
effective for annual periods beginning on 1 April 
2024
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the 

following amended HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by 

the HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations and 

effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the 

annual period beginning on 1 April 2024:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and 

Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as 

Current or Non-current and 

related amendments to Hong 

Kong Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with 

Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and 

HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The adoption of the amended HKFRS Accounting Standards had 

no material impact on how the results and financial position for the 

current and prior periods have been prepared and presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 March 2025 截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. 
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4
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 – 11 2

5  – 

3

1 
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting 
Standards
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial 

statements, certain new and amended HKFRS Accounting 

Standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have 

not been adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 

Financial Statements3

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 

Accountability: Disclosures3

Amendments to HKFRS 9  

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification 

and Measurement of Financial 

Instruments2

Amendments to HKFRS 9  

and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature – 

dependent Electricity2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 

and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets 

between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture4

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability1

Amendments to HKFRS 

Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 

Accounting Standards – Volume 

112

Amendments to Hong Kong 

Interpretation 5

Presentation of Financial 

Statements – Classification by 

the Borrower of a Term Loan 

that Contains a Repayment on 

Demand Clause3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

4 Effective date not yet determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 

3. 
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5
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting 
Standards (Continued)
The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be 

adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the first period 

beginning on or after the effective date of the pronouncement. 

Information on new and amended HKFRS Accounting Standards 

that are expected to have impact on the Group’s accounting 

policies is provided below. Other new and amended HKFRS 

Accounting Standards are not expected to have a material impact 

on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 
Statements” and related amendments to Hong Kong 
Interpretation 5

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 “Presentat ion of F inancia l 

Statements”. It carries forward many of the existing requirements 

in HKAS 1, with limited changes, and some HKAS 1 requirements 

will be moved to HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in 

Accounting Estimates and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures”.

HKFRS 18 will not impact the recognition and measurement 

of financial statements items but the presentation of them. It 

introduces three major new requirements, including:

• reporting newly defined subtotals (namely “operating 

profits” and “profits before financing and income tax”), 

and classifying items into five newly defined categories 

(namely “operating”, “investing”, “financing”, “income tax” 

and “discontinued operation”), depending on the reporting 

entity’s main business activities, in the statement of profit or 

loss;

• disclosure of management-defined performance measures 

(“MPMs”) in a single note to the financial statements; and

• enhanced guidance of aggregation and disaggregation of 

information in the financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 March 2025 截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

3. 

 

18
5
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• 

• 
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRS 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRS Accounting 
Standards (Continued)
HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 
Statements” and related amendments to Hong Kong 
Interpretation 5 (Continued)

Besides, narrow-scope amendments have been made to HKAS 7 

“Statement of Cash Flows”, which includes:

• using “operating profit or loss” as the starting point for 

indirect method for the presentation of operating cash flows 

purposes; and

• the option for classifying interest and dividend cash flows as 

operating activities is eliminated.

In addition, there are consequential amendments to several other 

standards.

HKFRS 18, and the amendments to the other HKFRS Accounting 

Standards, are effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 

January 2027 and must be applied retrospectively with specific 

transition provisions. The directors of the Company are still in the 

process of assessing the impact of HKFRS 18, particularly with 

respect to the structure of the Group’s consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated 

statement of cash flows and the additional disclosures required for 

MPMs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 

4. 

(a) 

(i)

(ii)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of 

these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial 

statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 

March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. 

The Group controls an entity when it has power over the entity, or 

has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity 

and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 

the entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group 

has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the 

relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s 

returns.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is 

transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date 

the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of subsidiaries that results in 

a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair 

value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any 

investment retained in that subsidiaries and (ii) the Company’s 

share of the net assets of that subsidiaries plus any remaining 

goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation reserve 

relating to that subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 March 2025 截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

4.  

(a) 

(b) 

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued)
Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised profits are 

eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 

provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 

necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 

Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not 

attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling 

interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial 

position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within 

equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an 

allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the 

year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the 

Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive 

income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 

non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 

interests having a deficit balance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in 

subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the 

investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal 

group that is classified as held for sale).

(b) Goodwill
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 

accumulated impairment losses. Any impairment is recognised 

immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 

4.  

(c) 
(i) 

(ii)  

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the 

Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates 

(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial 

statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), 

which is the Company’s functional and presentation 

currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial 
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the 

functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange 

rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets 

and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the 

exchange rates at the end of each reporting period. 

Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are 

recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in 

foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at 

the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised 

in other comprehensive income, any exchange component 

of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive 

income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is 

recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of 

that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 March 2025 截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

4.  

(c) 
(iii) 

– 

– 

– 

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group’s entities 

that have a functional currency different from the Company’s 

presentation currency are translated into the Company’s 

presentation currency as follows:

– Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial 

position presented are translated at the closing rate at 

the end of the reporting period;

– Income and expenses are translated at average 

exchange rates for the period (unless this average 

is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative 

effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, 

in which case income and expenses are translated at 

the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

– All resulting exchange differences are recognised in 

other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 

foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the 

translation of monetary items that form part of the net 

investment in foreign entities are recognised in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign 

currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation 

is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to 

consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on 

disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition 

of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 

foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.



90 Annual Report 2025 • Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 

4.  

(d) 

23

3

1.5–10
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are held for use in the production 

or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes 

(other than construction in progress as described below). Property, 

plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement 

of financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated 

depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, 

if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or 

recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 

probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 

will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 

reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit 

or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at 

rates sufficient to write-off their cost less their residual values over 

the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives 

are as follows:

Land and building 23 years

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term or 3 years

Machinery 1.5–10 years

Equipment and tools 3–5 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 5–10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are 

reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting 

period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for 

on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress represents leasehold improvements of 

the properties managed by the Group and is stated at cost less 

impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets 

are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is 

the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 March 2025 截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

4.  

(e) 

(i) 

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(e) Leases
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the 

contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease 

if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control 

is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the 

use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the 

economic benefits from that use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more 

additional lease or non-lease components, the Group elected 

not to separate non-lease components and will instead account 

for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease 

component.

(i) The Group as a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises 

a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-

term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and 

leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a 

lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides 

whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. 

The lease payments associated with those leases which 

are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a 

systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially 

recognised at the present value of the lease payments 

payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest 

rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 

determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. 

After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at 

amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the 

effective interest method.
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4.  

(e) 
(i) 

9

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(e) Leases (Continued)
(i) The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised 

is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial 

amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made 

at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct 

costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-

use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle 

and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying 

asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their 

present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-

of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain 

to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the 

end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement 

date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use 

assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 

shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line 

item on the consolidated financial statements.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under 

HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to 

fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional 

lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use 

assets.



93兆邦基生活控股有限公司 • 二零二五年年報

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 March 2025 截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

4.  

(e) 
(i) 

(ii) 

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(e) Leases (Continued)
(i) The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change 

in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that 

is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease 

modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease. 

In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the 

revised lease payments and lease term using a revised 

discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item 

on the consolidated statement of financial position. The 

current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as 

the present value of contractual payments that are due to be 

settled within twelve months after the reporting period.

(ii) The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease 

inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an 

operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it 

transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 

the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is 

not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the 

head lease and the sub-leases as two separate contracts. 

The sub-leases are classified as a finance or operating lease 

with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the 

head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If the 

head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies 

the short-term lease exemption, then the Group classifies 

the sub-lease as an operating lease. The Group sub-leases 

the property and the sub-lease contract is classified as 

operating lease.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the lease.
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(f) 

(g) 

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(f) Inventories
Inventories comprise spare parts of machinery and equipment and 

consumables and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis. The 

cost of finished goods comprises all cost of purchase and other 

cost incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location 

and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price 

in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(g) Contract liabilities
A contract l iabil ity is recognised when the customer pays 

consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. 

A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an 

unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group 

recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding 

receivable would also be recognised.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, 

the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective 

interest method.
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4.  

(h)  

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(h) Recognition and derecognition of financial 
instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of financial position when the Group entity 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at 

fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other 

than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to 

or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 

liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs 

directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 

liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a f inancial asset only when the 

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 

when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the 

Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred 

asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and 

an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group 

retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a 

transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 

financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for 

the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, 

the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(i) Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 

recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular 

way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets 

that require delivery of assets within the time frame established 

by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised 

financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at 

either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification 

of the financial assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one of the 

following measurement categories:

– amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of 

contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of 

principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is 

calculated using the effective interest method.

– FVOCI – recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the 

investment comprise solely payments of principal and 

interest and the investment is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both the collection of 

contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are 

recognised in other comprehensive income, except for the 

recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses (“ECL”), 

interest income (calculated using the effective interest 

method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the 

investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated in 

other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit 

or loss.

– FVTPL, if the investment does not meet the criteria for being 

measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes 

in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are 

recognised in profit or loss.
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4.  

(i) 

 – 

 – 

(j) 

(k) 

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless 

the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and 

on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an 

election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) 

such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in 

other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on 

an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if 

the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s 

perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount 

accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the 

“financial assets at FVOCI reserve – non-recycling” until the 

investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount 

accumulated in the “financial assets at FVOCI reserve – non-

recycling” is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled 

through profit or loss.

(j) Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional 

right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration 

is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before 

payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been 

recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive 

consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method less allowance for ECL.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, 

demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and 

short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 

into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 

insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three 

months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are 

assessed for ECL.



98 Annual Report 2025 • Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 

4.  

(l) 

(m) (o)

(m) 

(n) 

(o) 

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(l) Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according 

to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and 

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under 

HKFRS Accounting Standards. The accounting policies adopted 

for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out in 

(m) to (o) below.

(m) Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction 

costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless as at the end 

of the reporting period, the Group has a right to defer settlement 

of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 

period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on or before 

the end of the reporting period, are considered in classifying loan 

arrangement with covenants as current or non-current. Covenants 

that the Group is required to comply with after the reporting period 

do not affect the classification.

(n) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair 

value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be 

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(o) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual 

interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the 

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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4.  

(p) 

(q) 

(i) 

• 

• 

• 

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(p) Derivative
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 

a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

All derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. 

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not 

qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit 

or loss and are included in “other gains and losses”.

(q) Revenue and other income and other contract costs 

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or 

service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of 

promised consideration to which the Group is expected to 

be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of 

third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other 

sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that 

apply to the contract, control of the goods or services may 

be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the 

goods or services is transferred over time if the Group’s 

performance included the following criteria:

• provides all of the benefits received and consumed 

simultaneously by the customer;

• creates or enhances an asset that the customer 

controls as the Group performs; or

• does not create an asset with an alternative use to 

the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to 

payment for performance completed to date.



100 Annual Report 2025 • Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(q) Revenue and other income and other contract costs 
(Continued)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, 

revenue is recognised over the period of the contract with 

reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction 

of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is 

recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains 

control of the goods or services.

Revenue from the sale of machinery and spare parts is 

recognised when control of the goods has been transferred, 

being when the goods have been del ivered to the 

customer’s specific location (delivery). Following delivery, the 

customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution 

and price to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility 

when on se l l ing the goods and bears the r isks of 

obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. A receivable 

is recognised by the Group when the goods are delivered to 

the customers as this represents the point in time at which 

the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only 

the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the 

effective interest method. For financial assets measured at 

amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective 

interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the 

asset.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is 

recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the 

periods covered by the lease term.

Revenue from transportation, repair and maintenance 

services is recognised as a performance obligation satisfied 

at a point in time when the related services are rendered.

4.  

(q) 

(i) 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(q) Revenue and other income and other contract costs 
(Continued)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

For property management services income from properties 

managed under lump sum basis, where the Group acts 

as principal and is primary responsible for providing the 

property management services to the property owners, 

the Group recognises the fee received or receivable from 

property owners as its revenue and all related property 

management costs as its cost of sales. Revenue from 

property management services is recognised over time. 

For property management services income from properties 

managed on a commission basis, the Group recognises the 

commission, which is calculated by certain percentage of 

the total property management fee received or receivable 

from the property owners, or total property management 

cost incurred or accrual by the property units, as its revenue 

for arranging and monitoring the services as provided by 

other suppliers to the property owners.

The Group operates its retail business and sales of game 

coins and tickets in amusement arcades. Customers can 

purchase game coins and tickets to utilise in the retail shops 

and amusement arcades. Revenues from game coins and 

tickets are recognised when utilised and ratably over the 

period the customers are expected to forfeit their game 

coins and tickets. At each reporting date, the unearned 

portion of revenue received in respect of game coins and 

tickets is recognised as contract liabilities. Revenue from 

retail business services is recognised over time.

Revenue from property leasing and subletting is recognised 

over the lease terms. Accounting policies for rental income 

are set out in note 4(e).

4.  

(q) 

(i) 

4(e)
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(q) Revenue and other income and other contract costs 
(Continued)
(ii) Other contract costs

Contract costs of the Group is the incremental costs of 

obtaining a contract.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those 

costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a 

customer that it would not have incurred if the contract had 

not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs as an asset (included in 

other receivables in the consolidated statement of financial 

position) if it expects to recover these costs. An asset is 

amortised and charged to the profit or loss on a systematic 

basis over the period of service contracts that is consistent 

with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to 

which the asset relates.

4.  

(q) 

(ii) 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(r) Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised 

when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for 

the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services 

rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting 

period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are 

not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through 

defined contribution plans. In addition, the employees 

employed under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance are 

also entitled to long service payment (“LSP”) if the eligibility 

criteria are met. The LSP are defined benefits plans.

(a) Defined contribution plans

The Group contr ibutes to defined contr ibution 

ret i rement schemes which are avai lable to al l 

employees. Contributions to the schemes by the 

Group and employees are calculated as a percentage 

of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit 

scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents 

contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

4.  

(r) 
(i) 

(ii) 

(a) 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(r) Employee benefits (Continued)
(ii) Retirement benefits (Continued)

(b) Defined benefit plans

The amount of long service benefit that an employee 

will receive on cessation of employment in certain 

c i rcumstances is def ined by reference to the 

employee’s length of service and corresponding 

salary. The legal obligations for any benefits remains 

with the Group.

The LSP obligations recognised in the consolidated 

statement of financial position is the present value of 

the LSP obligation at the end of the reporting period.

Management estimates the LSP obligations annually. 

This is based on the discount rate, the salary growth 

rate, turnover rate and the expected investment 

return on offsetable MPF accrued benefits. Discount 

factors are determined close to the end of each 

annual reporting period by reference to Hong Kong 

government bonds that are denominated in the 

currency in which the benefits will be paid and have 

terms to maturity approximating the terms of the 

related defined benefit liability.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

• service cost (including current and past service 

cost, and gains and losses on curtailments and 

settlements);

• net interest expense or income; and

• remeasurement.

4.  

(r) 
(ii) 

(b) 

• 

• 

• 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(r) Employee benefits (Continued)
(ii) Retirement benefits (Continued)

(b) Defined benefit plans (Continued)

Service cost on the Group’s defined benefit plan is 

included in employee benefits expense. Employee 

contributions, all of which are independent of the 

number of years of service, are treated as a reduction 

of service cost.

Net interest expense on the net defined benefit liability 

is included in employee benefits expenses.

Gains and losses resulting from remeasurements of 

the net defined benefit liability, comprising actuarial 

gains and losses, are included in other comprehensive 

income and are not reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the 

dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 

those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring 

costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.

(s) Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

4.  

(r) 
(ii) 

(b) 

(iii) 

(s) 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(t) Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the 

year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or 

loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable 

or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or 

deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using 

tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 

end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial 

statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 

computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 

recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 

tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 

temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits 

can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if 

the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 

recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets 

and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit 

nor the accounting profit and does not give rise to equal taxable 

and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 

differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where 

the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 

difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 

reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end 

of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no 

longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

4.  

(t) 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(t) Taxation (Continued)
For the purposes of measur ing deferred tax for leasing 

transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets 

and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether 

the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or 

the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are 

attributable to the lease l iabil it ies, the Group applies the 

requirements in HKAS 12 to the lease liabilities and the related 

assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset 

related to the lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 

temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for 

all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected 

to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset 

is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred 

tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to 

items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the 

tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 

Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or 

settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 

enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 

liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 

taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax 

assets and liabilities on a net basis.

4.  

(t) 

12
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(u) Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at 

each reporting date for indications of impairment and where an 

asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense in profit or loss 

to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 

is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 

generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from 

other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable 

amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 

asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use 

and the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or 

the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows 

of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are computed 

using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money 

and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose 

impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first 

against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the 

other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases 

in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates 

are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the 

impairment.

4.  

(u) 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(v) Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments 

in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The 

amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect 

changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 

financial instrument.

The Group considers a broader range of information when 

assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events, 

current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that 

affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the 

instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made 

between:

– financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly 

in credit quality since initial recognition or that have low 

credit risk (“Stage 1”); and

– financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in 

credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is 

not low (“Stage 2”).

“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have objective 

evidence of impairment at the end of the reporting period.

“12-month ECL” are recognised for the Stage 1 category while 

“lifetime ECL” are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted 

estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial 

instrument.

4.  

(v) 

– 

– 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(v) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. 

The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a provision 

matrix or assessed individually based on the Group’s historical 

credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 

debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both 

the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the 

reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime 

ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk 

since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the 

financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that 

financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. Lifetime 

ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default 

events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 

12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is 

expected to result from default events on a financial instrument 

that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument 

has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 

compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument 

at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the 

financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this 

assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative 

information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 

experience and forward-looking information that is available 

without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information 

considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which 

the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert 

reports, financial analysts and governmental bodies as well as 

consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast 

economic information that relate to the Group’s core operations.

4.  

(v) 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(v) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when 

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since 

initial recognition:

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial 

instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

– significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit 

risk for a particular financial instrument;

– existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or 

economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant 

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the 

operating results of the debtor;

– signif icant increases in credit r isk on other f inancial 

instruments of the same debtor;

– an actual or expected significant adverse change in the 

regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the 

debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s 

ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group 

presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased 

significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments 

are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable 

and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

4.  

(v) 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

30
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(v) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk 

on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since 

initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have 

low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is 

determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 

cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the 

longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability 

of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk 

when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade” in 

accordance with the globally understood definition.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used 

to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit 

risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are 

capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the 

amount becomes past due.

4.  

(v) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(v) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of 

default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical 

experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the 

following criteria are generally not recoverable.

– when there is a breach of financial covenants by the 

counterparty; or

– information developed internally or obtained from external 

sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its 

creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into 

account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that 

default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days 

past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable 

information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is 

more appropriate.

4.  

(v) 

– 

– 

90
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(v) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that 

have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of 

that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset 

is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following 

events:

– significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the counterparty;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

– the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual 

reasons relating to the counterparty’s financial difficulty, 

having granted to the counterparty a concession(s) that the 

lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

– it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter 

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

– the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset 

because of financial difficulties.

4.  

(v) 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(v) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information 

indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there 

is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor 

has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 

proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to 

enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, 

taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries 

made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, 

loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) 

and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of 

default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted 

by forward-looking information as described above. As for the 

exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by 

the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date, together 

with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the 

future by default date determined based on historical trend, the 

Group’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of 

the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference 

between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group 

in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the 

Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective 

interest rate.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss 

for all financial instruments measured at amortised cost with a 

corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss 

allowance account.

4.  

(v) 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(w) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or 

amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that 

an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time 

value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present 

value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits 

will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, 

the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the 

probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose 

existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-

occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as 

contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(x) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item 

reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified 

from the financial information provided regularly to the executive 

directors of the Group, being the chief operating decision maker 

(the “CODM”), for the purposes of allocating resources to, and 

assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of 

business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for 

financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar 

economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature 

of products and services, the nature of production processes, the 

type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the 

products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory 

environment. Operating segments which are not individually 

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these 

criteria.

4.  

(w) 

(x) 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(y) Related parties
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is 

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the 

Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following 

conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same 

group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and 

fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other 

entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of 

a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the 

other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the 

benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity 

related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person 

identified in (a).

4.  

(y) 
(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) (a)
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(y) Related parties (Continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following 

conditions apply: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence 

over the entity or is a member of key management 

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a 

part, provides key management personnel services to 

the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family 

members who may be expected to inf luence, or be 

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity 

and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic 

partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; 

and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or 

domestic partner.

4.  

(y) 
(b) 

(vii) ( a ) ( i )

(viii) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors 

have made the following judgements that have the most significant 

effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 

statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are 

dealt with below).

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in accounting policy disclosed in note 4(v), ECL are 

measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 

assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset 

moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly 

since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes 

a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit 

risk of an asset has significantly increased, the Group takes into 

account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable 

forward-looking information. Details of the assessment whether 

the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased are disclosed 

in the note 4(v).

5. 
(a) 

4(v)

1

2 3

2

9

4(v)
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key 

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 

to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 

financial year, are discussed below.

(i) Estimated useful lives and residual values of machinery 
classified under property, plant and equipment 

Management estimates useful l ives of the machinery 

classified under property, plant and equipment by reference 

to the Group’s business model, its assets management 

policy, the industry practice, expected usage of the 

assets, expected repair and maintenance, the technical 

or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or 

improvements in the market. Residual values of the 

machinery classified under property, plant and equipment are 

determined based on prevailing market values for equivalent 

aged assets taking into account the physical condition of 

the relevant assets and other economic considerations. 

Depreciation expenses would be significantly affected by the 

useful lives and residual values of the property, plant and 

equipment as estimated by management.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of machinery 

c lass i f ied under property, p lant and equipment is 

HK$18,409,000 (2024: HK$55,468,000).

5.  

(b) 

(i) 

18,409,000

55,468,000
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets measure at amortised cost 

The management of the Group estimates the amount of 

ECL allowance on financial assets measure at amortised 

cost based on 12-month or lifetime ECL assessment. The 

amount of the ECL allowance based on ECL model is 

measured as the difference between all contractual cash 

flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the 

contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 

receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined 

at initial recognition. Where the future cash flows are less 

than expected, or being revised downward due to changes 

in facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may 

arise.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of trade 

receivables, other receivables and loans receivable are 

HK$106,482,000, HK$20,941,000 and HK$91,507,000 

respectively (net of ECL allowance of HK$32,737,000, 

HK$15,022,000 and HK$6,927,000 respectively) (2024: 

trade receivables, other receivables and loans receivable 

of HK$94,035,000, HK$52,282,000 and HK$76,428,000 

respectively (net of ECL allowance of HK$27,127,000, 

HK$2,391,000 and HK$5,861,000 respectively)).

5.  

(b) 
(ii) 

106,482,000 20,941,000

91,507,000

32,737,000

15,022,000 6,927,000

94,035,000

52,282,000 76,428,000

27,127,000 2,391,000

5,861,000
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-

of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 

are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is 

impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make 

estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event 

has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset 

value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be 

supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value 

in use, the net present value of future cash flows which 

are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; 

and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in 

estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow 

projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is 

not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 

individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group 

estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the 

assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates, 

including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash 

flow projections, could materially affect the recoverable 

amounts.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of property, plant 

and equipment and right-of-use assets were HK$67,180,000 

and HK$15,047,000 (2024: HK$135,435,000 and 

HK$22,044,000) respectively. The impairment loss on 

property, plant and equipment of HK$19,077,000 (2024: Nil) 

has been recognised during the year ended 31 March 2025.

5. 

(b) 
(iii) 

( 1 )

(2)

(3)

67,180,000

15,047,000

135,435,000 22,044,000

19,077,000
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 
(Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(iv) Estimation of fair value of financial instruments not 

traded in an active market

As at 31 March 2025, f inancial instruments that are 

not traded in an active market including unlisted equity 

investments and distressed asset, were carried at fair 

value of HK$2,168,000 and HK$56,966,000 (2024: 

HK$5,003,000 and HK$70,389,000), respectively. The 

fair values are determined by using valuation techniques, 

details of which are set out in notes 23 and 28. This involves 

developing estimates and assumptions consistent with how 

market participants would price the instrument. The Group 

bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible 

but this is not always available. In that case the Group uses 

the best information available. Whilst the Group considers 

these valuations are the best estimates, have resulted in 

greater market volatility and may affect the investees’ or 

issuer’s businesses, which have led to higher degree of 

uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current year. 

Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that 

would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the end 

of the reporting period.

(v) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. 

Significant estimates are required in determining the 

provision for income taxes. There are many transactions 

and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination 

is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where 

the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 

amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 

impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 

period in which such determination is made.

During the year, income tax credit of HK$8,261,000 (2024: 

HK$149,000) has recognised to profit or loss based on the 

estimated profit or loss from operations.

5. 

(b) 
(iv) 

2,168,000

56,966,000

5,003,000 70,389,000

23

28

(v) 

8,261,000

149,000



124 Annual Report 2025 • Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 

6. 

(a) 

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

foreign currency risk, equity price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk 

and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management 

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 

and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s 

financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk
The Group has exposure to foreign currency risk as most of 

its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally 

denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$”) and Renminbi 

(“RMB”). The Group currently does not have a foreign currency 

hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets 

and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency exposure 

closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency 

exposure should the need arise.

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and Hong Kong and its 

principal activities are primarily transacted in RMB and HK$. At 31 

March 2025, the Group held certain financial assets and financial 

liabilities which were denominated in US$. The directors are of 

the opinion that the Group’s exposure to US$ and RMB foreign 

currency risk is minimal.

Therefore, the directors consider the Group has no significant 

foreign currency risk.
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6. 
(b) 

10%

10%

375,000 940,000

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through its 

investment in equity securities and unlisted fund investment 

classified as financial assets at FVTPL. The management manages 

this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with 

different risk and return profiles. The Group’s equity price risk is 

mainly concentrated on equity securities quoted on the Stock 

Exchange and fund investment portfolio with securities listed on 

the Stock Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on 

the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period.

For equity securities quoted on the Stock Exchange and fund 

investment portfolio with securities listed on the Stock Exchange, 

if equity prices had been 10% (2024: 10%) higher/lower, 

consolidated loss after tax for the year ended 31 March 2025 

would decrease/increase by HK$375,000 (2024: HK$940,000).
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6. 
(c) 

• 

• 

• 

• 

(i) 

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a 

financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation 

by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of the 

respective recognised financial assets as stated in the respective 

notes to the consolidated financial statements. The Group’s 

exposure to credit risk is mainly related to its contractual cash 

flows of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, loans 

receivable, amounts due from related companies and bank and 

cash balances.

The Group has four types of financial assets that are subject to 

the ECL model:

• bank and cash balances;

• trade receivables for sales of goods and from the provisions 

of services;

• loans receivable; and

• other financial assets at amortised cost.

(i) Bank and cash balances

The Group’s bank deposits are placed with banks and 

financial institutions which are highly reputable with 

multinational presences. Investment transactions are 

executed with financial institutions with sound credit ratings 

and the Group does not expect any significant counterparty 

r isk. Management does not expect any losses from 

nonperformance by these banks and financial institutions as 

they have no default history in the past.
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6. 
(c) 

(ii) 

25

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Trade receivables

The expected loss rates are based on individual assessment 
or provision matrix. The historical loss rates are adjusted 
to reflect current and forward-looking information on 
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers 
to settle the receivables.

Trade receivables are wri t ten off when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery. ECL allowance on trade 
receivables are presented as “ECL on financial asset, net” 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the same line item.

Loss allowance calculation of trade receivables

The Group applies simplified approach, which was a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for the trade receivables, and 
individual assessment for assessing the ECL. To measure 
the ECLs, trade receivables have been grouped based on 
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due as 
disclosure in note 25 with adjustment of forward-looking 
information and adjust for the factors that are specific to 
the debtors, as well as assessed individually based on 
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well 
as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. As at 31 
March 2025, the ECL rate of the trade receivables estimated 
using a provision matrix is according to the follow table:

2025 2024

    

Not yet past due 1.2% 0.0%
1–30 days past due 1 30 1.9% 2.8%
31–60 days past due 31 60 3.1% 9.6%
61–90 days past due 61 90 3.4% 1.1%
Over 90 days past due 90 17.6% 15.2%
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6. 
(c) 

(ii) 

32,737,000

27,127,000

7,287,000

11,516,000

25,450,000

15,611,000

46.1%

50.7%

(iii) 

27

7.0%

7.1%

6,927,000

5,861,000

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii) Trade receivables (Continued)

Loss allowance calculation of trade receivables (Continued) 

Therefore, the Group recognises ECL allowance of the trade 

receivables of HK$32,737,000 (2024: HK$27,127,000) 

as at 31 March 2025. This includes an ECL allowance for 

trade receivable of HK$7,287,000 (2024: HK$11,516,000) 

estimated using a provision matrix and HK$25,450,000 

(2024: HK$15,611,000) determined through individual 

assessment.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by 

the individual characteristics of each customer rather than 

the industry or country in which the customers operate and 

therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily 

arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual 

customers. At the end of the reporting period, 46.1% (2024: 

50.7%) of the total trade receivables was due from the 

Group’s largest customer.

(iii) Loans receivable

The Group applies the ECL model on loans receivable. 

ECL allowance on loans receivable are measured as either 

12-month or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there 

has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition. Please refer to note 27 to the details. The 

average ECL rate of the loans receivable for the year ended 

31 March 2025 is 7.0% (2024: 7.1%). As at 31 March 2025, 

the Group recognises the ECL allowance of loans receivable 

of HK$6,927,000 (2024: HK$5,861,000).
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6. 
(c) 

(iv) 

9

15,022,000

2,391,000

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv) Other financial assets at amortised costs 

The Group applies the ECL model on other financial assets 

at amortised cost. Impairment on other financial assets at 

amortised cost are measured as either 12-month or lifetime 

ECL, depending on whether there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant 

increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since 

initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime 

ECL.

In order to minimise the credit risk of other receivables, the 

management would make periodic collective and individual 

assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based 

on historical settlement records and past experience as well 

as current external information. Other monitoring procedures 

are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to 

recover overdue debts.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s credit risk on other 

receivable is primarily attributable to the other receivable 

from its property management business. The management 

of the Group has assessed the credibility and performed 

impairment assessment under ECL model within the scope 

of HKFRS 9 on the balances individually.

In this regard, as at 31 March 2025, the Group recognises 

the ECL allowance of other receivables of HK$15,022,000 

(2024: HK$2,391,000).
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6. 
(d) 

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected 

liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves 

of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer 

term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash 

flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is as follows:

Less than 

1 year or on 

demand

Between 

1 and 2 years

Total 

contractual 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 

amount

1

1 2

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 31 March 2025

Trade payables 24,565 – 24,565 24,565

Accruals and other payables 39,286 – 39,286 39,286

Amount due to a shareholder 1,918 – 1,918 1,918

Amounts due to related companies 3,750 – 3,750 3,750

Borrowings 2,734 – 2,734 2,677

Lease liabilities 15,439 – 15,439 15,202      

87,692 – 87,692 87,398
      

At 31 March 2024

Trade payables 21,140 – 21,140 21,140

Accruals and other payables 39,586 – 39,586 39,586

Amount due to a shareholder 1,825 – 1,825 1,825

Amounts due to related companies 133 – 133 133

Borrowings 7,769 2,765 10,534 10,189

Lease liabilities 21,213 1,939 23,152 22,745      

91,666 4,704 96,370 95,618
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6. 
(d) 

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank 

borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed 

scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. The 

amounts include interest payments computed using contractual 

rates. As a result, these amounts were greater than the amounts 

disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the maturity analysis 

contained above.

Maturity Analysis – bank borrowings subject to a repayment on 

demand clause based on scheduled repayments

 – 

Less than 

1 year

Between 

1 and 2 years

Total 

undiscounted 

cash outflows

Carrying 

amount

1 1 2

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 31 March 2025

Borrowings – – – –
      

At 31 March 2024

Borrowings 956 80 1,036 984
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(e) 

50%

50

13,000 46,000

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(e) Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on 

the fluctuation of benchmark interest rate of the People’s Bank of 

China arising from the Group’s bank saving accounts and certain 

bank borrowings.

Other than bank saving accounts and certain bank borrowings 

mentioned above, the Group’s loans receivable, other receivables, 

lease liabilities and bank borrowings at fixed interest rate and 

therefore are subject to fair value interest rate risk.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on 

the exposure to interest rates at the reporting date. For floating 

rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of 

liability outstanding at the reporting date was outstanding for the 

whole year. A 50 per cent increase or decrease is used when 

reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel 

and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 

possible change in interest rates.

If the interest rates on bank borrowings were 50 basis points 

higher/lower, with all other variables held constant, the net loss, 

net of tax, and retained earnings would increase/decrease and 

retained earnings would decrease/increase by approximately 

HK$13,000 (2024: HK$46,000) attributable to the cash flow 

interest rate risk exposure on variable interest-rate bank 

borrowings.

The stated changes represent the best est imate by the 

management on the possible changes of interest rates over the 

period until the next annual reporting date.
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6. 
(f) 

(g) 
7

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(f) Categories of financial instruments:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial assets:

Financial assets at FVTPL:  

Mandatorily measured at FVTPL
–  Held for trading – 3,753 9,395
–  Distressed asset – 56,966 70,389

Financial assets at amortised cost 262,632 257,107

Financial assets at FVOCI  

2,168 5,003    

Financial liabilities:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 72,196 72,873

Lease liabilities 15,202 22,745
    

(g) Fair values
Except as disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial 

statements, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets 

and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of 

financial position approximate their respective fair values.
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 

paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of 

fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises 

into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to 

measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities that the Group can 

access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within 

Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly, and not using 

significant unobservable inputs.

Level 3 inputs: significant unobservable inputs for the asset or 

liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out 

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in 

circumstances that caused the transfer.

7. 
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7. 
(a) 

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy:

Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2025 using:

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Recurring fair value 

measurements:

Financial assets at FVTPL –  

listed equity security (note 28)

 

 – 28 1,449 – – 1,449

Financial assets at FVTPL –  

unlisted fund investment (note 28)

 

 – 28 – 2,304 – 2,304

Financial assets at FVOCI –  

unlisted equity security (note 23)  –  

23 – – 2,168 2,168

Distressed asset (note 28) 28 – – 56,966 56,966      

1,449 2,304 59,134 62,887
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7. 
(a)  

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy: 

(Continued)

Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2024 using:

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Recurring fair value 

measurements:

Financial assets at FVTPL –  

listed equity security (note 28)

 

 – 28 6,890 – – 6,890

Financial assets at FVTPL –  

unlisted fund investment (note 28)

 

 – 28 – 2,505 – 2,505

Financial assets at FVOCI –  

unlisted equity security (note 23)  –  

23 – – 5,003 5,003

Distressed asset (note 28) 28 – – 70,389 70,389      

6,890 2,505 75,392 84,787
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7. 
(b) 

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value 

based on Level 3:

Financial assets 

at FVOCI – 

unlisted equity 

security

Derivative 

financial 

instruments – 

call options

Distressed 

asset Total

– –

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 April 2023 4,855 5,470 85,680 96,005

Disposal – (5,470) – (5,470)

Total gains or losses recognised
– in profit or loss – – – (10,948) (10,948)
– in other comprehensive income – 227 – – 227

Exchange difference (79) – (4,343) (4,422)      

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

5,003 – 70,389 75,392

Total gains or losses recognised
– in profit or loss – – – (12,797) (12,797)
– in other comprehensive income – (2,827) – – (2,827)

Exchange difference (8) – (626) (634)      

At 31 March 2025 2,168 – 56,966 59,134
      

The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive 

income are presented on the face of the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are presented 

in other gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income.
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7. 
(c) 

28

23

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)
(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group 

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair 
value measurements:
The Group’s management, who is responsible for the financial 

reporting, is responsible for the fair value measurements of assets 

and liabilities required for financial reporting purposes, including 

Level 3 fair value measurements. The management reports directly 

to the Board of Directors for these fair value measurements. 

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between 

the management, who is responsible to the financial reporting, 

and the Board of Directors at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally 

engage external valuation experts with the recognised professional 

qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations.

The Group’s distressed asset is categorised as Level 3 financial 

instruments. Disclosures relating to distressed asset are set out in 

note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s unlisted equity security is categorised as Level 3 

financial instruments. The fair value of unlisted equity security 

was determined by the adjusted net asset approach and key 

unobservable input includes net asset value and adjustments 

to book value of underlying assets not measured at fair value. 

Disclosures relating to unlisted equity security are set out in note 

23 to the consolidated financial statements. During the years 

ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, there were no changes in the 

valuation techniques used.
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8. 
 

8. REVENUE
Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by 

major products or service line for the year is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue from contracts with customers 

within the scope of HKFRS 15

15  

Sales of machinery and spare parts and 

provision of related services

 

2,434 22,401

Transportation services 138 2,407

Property management services 84,689 78,369

Property leasing, subletting, retail and others  

54,675 71,132    

141,936 174,309    

Revenue from other sources

Interest income on loans receivable 4,889 3,782

Property leasing, subletting, retail and others  

2,684 7,654    

7,573 11,436

Leasing of machinery and provision of 

related services 48,390 81,946    

55,963 93,382    

197,899 267,691
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8. 
 

15

8. REVENUE (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and 

services over time and at a point in time in the following major 

product lines and geographical regions:

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of 
HKFRS 15

Sales of machinery and 

spare parts and provision 

of related services Transportation services

Property management 

services

Property leasing, 

subletting, retail and 

others Total

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

            

Primary geographical markets

Hong Kong 2,434 22,401 138 2,407 – – – – 2,572 24,808

The PRC except Hong Kong – – – – 84,689 78,369 54,675 71,132 139,364 149,501            

Revenue from external customers 2,434 22,401 138 2,407 84,689 78,369 54,675 71,132 141,936 174,309
            

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods and services transferred at a 

point in time

 

2,434 22,401 138 2,407 – – – – 2,572 24,808

Service transferred over time – – – – 84,689 78,369 54,675 71,132 139,364 149,501            

Total 2,434 22,401 138 2,407 84,689 78,369 54,675 71,132 141,936 174,309
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8. 
 

15

15

15

8. REVENUE (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)
Revenue from other source not within the scope of HKFRS 15 

Leasing of machinery 

and provision of related 

services

Property leasing, 

subletting, retail and 

others Money lending Total

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

          

Primary geographical markets

Hong Kong 44,630 75,232 – – 3,608 3,430 48,238 78,662

The PRC except Hong Kong 3,760 6,714 2,684 7,654 1,281 352 7,725 14,720          

Revenue from external customers 48,390 81,946 2,684 7,654 4,889 3,782 55,963 93,382
          

All contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 are 

for periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the 

transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not 

disclosed.
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9. 9. OTHER GAINS AND (LOSSES), NET

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Written-off on property, plant and equipment (3,217) (5,119)

Gain on early termination of leases, net 255 –

Impairment losses on property, plant and 

equipment (19,077) –

Compensation for damaged property, plant 

and equipment 910 313

(Loss)/Gain on disposals of property, plant 

and equipment

 

(4,260) 4,319

Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL  

(18,254) (13,229)

Net foreign exchange losses (45) (212)

Others 396 238    

(43,292) (13,690)
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10. 

(i) – 

(ii) – 

(iii) – 

(iv) – 

(v) – 

8

4

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group has five (2024: six) reportable segments as follows:

(i) Trading – Sales of machinery and spare parts 
and provision of related services

(ii) Leasing – Leasing of machinery and provision of 
transportation and related services

(iii) Property 
management

– Provision of property management 
services

(iv) Property leasing, 
subletting, retail 
and others

– Provision of property leasing, 
subletting, retail and other 
businesses

(v) Money lending – Provision of money lending business

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the transportation segment 

was no longer classified as a reportable segment due to significant 

decrease in its revenue and operational scale, which fell below 

the quantitative thresholds of HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”. 

As a result, it has been included in the leasing segments 

category. Comparative figures have been restated accordingly. 

The restatement aligns with the updated information used by the 

CODM to assess performance and allocate resources. Further 

details on the restated amounts are provided in the segment 

reconciliation table below.

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, 

being the CODM, for the purposes of resource allocation and 

assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods 

or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units 

that offer different products and services. They are managed 

separately because each business requires different technology 

and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the 

same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial 

statements. Segment profits or losses do not include corporate 

income and expenses, certain other gain and losses, finance 

income, finance costs and income tax.
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10. 

(i) 

* 

 

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if 

the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market 

prices.

(i) Information about reportable segments profit or 
loss:

Trading Leasing Property management

Property leasing, 
subletting, retail and 

others Money lending Unallocated
Inter segment 

elimination Total

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(restated)

                  

Year ended 31 March
Revenue from external 

customers 2,434 22,401 48,528 84,353 84,689 78,369 57,359 78,786 4,889 3,782 – – – – 197,899 267,691
Inter-segment revenue* * 4,000 – – – 860 1,592 – – – – – – (4,860) (1,592) – –                  

Reportable segment revenue 6,434 22,401 48,528 84,353 85,549 79,961 57,359 78,786 4,889 3,782 – – (4,860) (1,592) 197,899 267,691
Segment (loss)/profit before 

tax
 

(5,009) (5,353) (32,109) 9,146 (7,580) 4,358 (3,984) (748) 2,376 704 – – – – (46,306) 8,107
                  

Depreciation and 
amortisation – – (34,126) (37,126) – – (28,291) (32,580) – – (305) (850) – – (62,722) (70,556)

(Loss)/Gain on disposal 
of property, plant and 
equipment

 

– – (4,260) 4,319 – – – – – – – – – – (4,260) 4,319
Written-off on property, plant 

and equipment – – (448) (5,119) – – (2,769) – – – – – – – (3,217) (5,119)
Impairment loss on property, 

plant and equipment
 

– – (15,312) – – – (3,765) – – – – – – – (19,077) –

Gain on early termination of 
leases, net

 
– – – – – – 255 – – – – – – – 255 –

Reversal of write down/(Write 
down) of inventories 470 (1,684) – – – – – – – – – – – – 470 (1,684)

Finance income 181 132 1,133 1,123 3 5 283 718 15 – – – – – 1,615 1,978
Finance costs (192) (28) (317) (366) – – (565) (1,268) – – – – – – (1,074) (1,662)
ECL allowance on financial 

assets, net
 

(689) (232) (6,899) (9,727) (9,226) (3,735) (1,789) (713) (1,095) (3,078) – – – – (19,698) (17,485)
Capital additions (note) – – 22,559 34,661 65 – 20,481 32,886 – – – – – – 43,105 67,547

                  

* Inter-segment revenue transactions are priced with reference to 
prices charged to external parties for similar orders based on similar 
terms and conditions of sales agreements entered.

Note: Capital additions to non-current segment assets (other than financial 
instruments and deferred tax assets) during the year.
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10. 
(ii) 

 

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segments revenue and 

profit or loss:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue

Total revenue of reportable segments 197,899 267,691
    

Profit or loss

Total profit or loss of reportable segments (46,306) 8,107

Unallocated amounts:

Unallocated corporate income 912 315

Unallocated corporate expenses and 

losses (note)

 

(40,672) (36,605)    

Consolidated loss before tax (86,066) (28,183)
    

Note: Unallocated head office and corporate expenses mainly include 
professional and consultancy fees, administrative expenses and 
business development expenses and fair value loss on financial 
assets at FVTPL.



146 Annual Report 2025 • Zhaobangji Lifestyle Holdings Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025 

10. 
(iii) 

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(iii) Geographical information:

Revenue

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of 

operations are detailed below:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Hong Kong 50,810 103,470

PRC except Hong Kong 147,089 164,221    

Consolidated total 197,899 267,691
    

Non-current assets (excluding financial instruments)

The Group’s non-current assets (excluding financial instruments) 

by location of operations are detailed below:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Hong Kong 76,623 101,975

PRC except Hong Kong 19,604 55,504    

Consolidated total 96,227 157,479
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10. 
(iv) 

* 

10%

10%

(v) 

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(iv) Revenue from major customers:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Customer A* A* N/A

33,045
    

* The revenue was derived from the leasing segment. Transactions 
with the customer did not exceed 10% of the Group’s revenue 
during the year ended 31 March 2025. In addition, there was no 
customers individually contributed more than 10% of the Group’s 
revenue during the year ended 31 March 2025.

(v) Reportable segment assets
The following table provides an analysis of reportable segment 

assets of different reportable segments recognised as at 31 March 

2025 and 2024:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

(restated)

    

Trading 28,108 34,889

Leasing 173,796 239,530

Property management 36,396 36,829

Property leasing, subletting, retail and others  

24,763 53,516

Money lending 91,513 76,442    

Total reportable segment assets 354,576 441,206

Unallocated 61,389 75,156    

Consolidated total assets 415,965 516,362
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10. 
(v) 

(vi) 

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(v) Reportable segment assets (Continued)

The segment assets is evaluated based on different reportable 

segment assets, which is a common measure of assets held by 

different reportable segments. The consolidated total assets are 

allocated to different reportable segments which are measured 

consistently with the Group’s assets except for the financial assets 

through profit or loss on distressed asset and the corporate assets  

held by headquarter or inactive subsidiaries.

(vi) Reportable segment liabilities
The following table provides an analysis of reportable segment 

liabilities of different reportable segments recognised as at 31 

March 2025 and 2024:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trading 9,065 5,262

Leasing 18,849 30,687

Property management 22,089 23,956

Property leasing, subletting, retail and others  

39,800 54,643

Money lending – –    

Total reportable segment liabilities 89,803 114,548

Unallocated 8,801 3,129    

Consolidated total liabilities 98,604 117,677
    

The segment liabilities is evaluated based on different reportable 

segment liabilities, which is a common measure of liabilities held 

by different reportable segments. The consolidated total liabilities 

are allocated to different reportable segments which are measured 

consistently with the Group’s liabilities except for the corporate 

liabilities held by headquarter or inactive subsidiaries.
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11. 11. FINANCE INCOME, NET

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Finance income

Interest income on bank deposits 695 642

Interest income on other receivables 920 1,336    

1,615 1,978    

Finance costs

Interest expense on bank loans (447) (945)

Interest expense on lease liabilities (627) (717)    

(1,074) (1,662)    

541 316
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12. 

2,000,000

8.25%

16.5%

16.5%

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT
Income tax credit has been recognised in profit or loss as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current tax – Hong Kong Profits Tax  – 

Provision for the year 165 1,738

Overprovision in prior years (3) (56)    

Current tax – PRC Enterprise Income Tax  – 

Overprovision in prior years (1,671) –    

Deferred tax (note 33) 33 (6,752) (1,831)    

(8,261) (149)
    

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, under the two-

tiered profits tax regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, profits tax 

rate for the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of qualifying 

corporations established in Hong Kong will be lowered to 8.25%, 

and profits above that amount will be subject to the tax rate of 

16.5%. For the other Hong Kong established subsidiaries, Hong 

Kong Profits Tax has been provided at a rate 16.5% on the 

estimated assessable profits.
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12. 12. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2025, no provision for PRC 

Enterprise Income Tax has been provided as the Company and its 

subsidiaries has either available tax losses brought forward from 

prior years to offset the assessable profits generated during the 

year or incurred a loss for taxation purpose. 

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no provision for PRC 

Enterprise Income Tax has been provided as the Company and 

its subsidiaries, which are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax, 

incurred a loss for taxation purpose.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated 

at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/regions in which 

the Group’s subsidiaries operate, based on existing legislation, 

interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

The reconciliation between the income tax credit and accounting 

loss before tax at applicable tax rates is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss before tax (86,066) (28,183)    

Tax at applicable tax rates in the jurisdictions 

concerned

 

(17,134) (7,081)

Tax effect of income that is not taxable (111) (103)

Tax effect of expenses that are not 

deductible 8,370 6,257

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 3,577 1,965

Tax effect of temporary differences not 

recognised – (1,108)

Overprovision in prior years (1,674) (56)

Others (1,289) (23)    

Income tax credit (8,261) (149)
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13. 

 

68,525,000
102,030,000

14. 

13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) 

the following:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 40,242 43,195

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 22,480 27,361

Loss/(Gain) on disposals of property, plant 

and equipment

 

4,260 (4,319)

Gain on early termination of leases, net  
(255) –

Auditor’s remuneration
– Audit service – 1,200 1,250

Cost of inventories sold 14,559 35,758

(Reversal of write down)/Write down of 

inventories to net realisable value

 

(470) 1,684

Written-off on property, plant and equipment 3,217 5,119

ECL on financial assets, net  
19,698 17,485

Short term lease expenses 7,878 7,633
    

Note: Cost of sales and services includes depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets and 
cost of inventories sold of approximately HK$68,525,000 (2024: 
HK$102,030,000).

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Employee benefits expenses (including 
directors’ emoluments)

Salaries, bonuses and allowances 47,639 52,585

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 4,792 4,500    

52,431 57,085
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14. 

15

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (Continued)
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year 

included none (2024: one) of the director whose emoluments are 

reflected in the analysis presented in note 15 to the consolidated 

financial statements. The emoluments of the five (2024: remaining 

four) individuals are set out below:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Salaries and allowances 5,572 3,374

Bonuses 636 1,442

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 107 87    

6,315 4,903
    

The emoluments fell within the following band:

2025 2024

Number of 

individuals

Number of 

individuals

    

Nil to HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 1 3

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000 2 –

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 2,000,000 2 –

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 2,500,000 – –

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 3,000,000 – 1
    

During the year, no amount was paid or payable by the Group 

to the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals set out 

above as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 

compensation for loss of office.
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15. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments, disclosed pursuant 

to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Companies Ordinance 

and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about 

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

For the year ended 31 March 2025

Fees

Discretionary 

bonus

Retirement 

benefit 

scheme 

contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Name of director

Executive directors

Mr. Xu Chujia (note ix) ix – – – –

Mr. Xu Chusheng (note i) i 180 – – 180

Mr. Xu Zhicong (note ii) ii 52 – – 52

Mr. Yin Ying Cai (note iii) iii 40 – – 40

Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith (note iv) iv – – – –

Ms. Zhang Yu (note v) v 110 – – 110

Ms. Zeng Yue Ying (note vi) vi 23 – – 23

Non-executive director

Ms. Tsim Ying Wah 120 – – 120

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Ye Longfei 120 – – 120

Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey 120 – – 120

Mr. Yu Chor On (note vii) vii 180 – – 180      

Total 945 – – 945
      

15. 

383(1)

2

(a) 
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15. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments 
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Fees

Discretionary 

bonus

Retirement 

benefit 

scheme 

contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Name of director

Executive directors

Mr. Xu Chujia (note ix) ix – – – –

Mr. Xu Chusheng (note i) i 720 – – 720

Mr. Xu Zhicong (note ii) ii 68 – – 68

Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith (note iv) iv – – – –

Ms. Zhang Yu (note v) v 68 – – 68

Non-executive director

Ms. Tsim Ying Wah 183 – – 183

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Ye Longfei 200 – – 200

Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey 130 – – 130

Mr. Yu Chor On (note vii) vii 8 – – 8

Mr. Wong Chun Man (note viii) viii 125 – – 125      

Total 1,502 – – 1,502
      

15. 

(a)  
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15. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments 
(Continued)
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their 

services in connection with the management of the affairs of the 

Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown 

above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Other than as disclosed in notes (ii), (iv) and (v) below, neither the 

chief executive nor any of the directors waived any emoluments 

during the year (2024: Nil).

Notes:

(i) Ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 4 June 
2024 and resigned on 31 October 2024.

(ii) Appointed as executive director of the Company on 8 September 
2023 and designated a Chairman on 30 June 2025 and agreed to 
waive his remuneration since 1 November 2024.

(iii) Appointed as executive director and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company on 4 June 2024 and resigned on 30 October 2024.

(iv) Resigned on 4 June 2024 and agreed to waive his remuneration 
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025.

(v) Appointed as executive director and deputy chief executive officer 
of the Company on 8 September 2023 and agreed to waive her 
remuneration since 1 March 2025.

(vi) Appointed as executive director and deputy chief executive officer 
of the Company on 22 January 2025.

(vii) Appointed as independent non-executive director of the Company 
on 15 March 2024.

(viii) Resigned on 15 March 2024.

(ix) Resigned on 30 June 2025.

15. 

(a)  

(ii) (iv) (v)

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) 

(vii) 

(viii) 

(ix) 
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15. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS 
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments 
(Continued)
Other than those related party transactions and balances 

disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements, no 

significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation 

to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and 

in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected 

party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 

subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year 

(2024: Nil).

16. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLAN
The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the 

“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund 

Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. 

The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated 

at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly maximum 

amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per employee and vest fully 

with employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the 

PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated by the 

local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to 

contribute certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries 

and wages to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement 

benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to assume 

the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future retired 

employees of these subsidiaries. The only obligation of these 

subsidiaries with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet 

the required contributions under the Scheme.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to the 

profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2025 amounted to 

approximately HK$4,792,000 (2024: HK$4,500,000) representing 

contributions paid and payable by the Group to the schemes 

at the appropriate rates set by the local government where the 

subsidiaries operate.

No forfeited contribution under these schemes is available to 

reduce the contribution payable in future years.

15. 

(a)  

42

16. 

5%

1,500

4,792,000

4,500,000
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17. DIVIDENDS
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for 

the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

18. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the 

following:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Loss

Loss for the purpose of calculating 

basic loss per share (loss for the year 

attributable to owners of the Company)

 

(77,805) (28,034)
    

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary 

shares for the purpose of calculating 

basic loss per share

 

6,195,000,000 6,195,000,000
    

The Company did not have any potential dilutive shares for the 

years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. Accordingly, the diluted 

loss per share are the same as the basic loss per share.

17. 

18. 
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Construction 
in progress

Land and 
building

Leasehold 
improvements Machinery

Equipment 
and tools

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment
Motor 

vehicle Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

          

Cost
At 1 April 2023 6,068 – 16,399 298,962 69,611 3,140 5,588 399,768
Transfer from right-of-use assets (note 20) 20 – – – 3,551 – – – 3,551
Transfer (5,817) – 5,817 – – – – –
Additions – 2,553 2,305 2,476 33,382 – 370 41,086
Disposals – – – (90,832) (532) – (5,207) (96,571)
Written off – – – (29,543) – – – (29,543)
Exchange differences (251) – (784) (1,402) (1,650) – – (4,087)          

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024  
– 2,553 23,737 183,212 100,811 3,140 751 314,204

Additions – – 3,526 4,105 841 – – 8,472
Disposals – – – (81,106) (22,004) – – (103,110)
Written off – – (6,836) (1,272) – – – (8,108)
Exchange differences – – (190) (26) (84) – – (300)          

At 31 March 2025 – 2,553 20,237 104,913 79,564 3,140 751 211,158          

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment

At 1 April 2023 – – 5,741 213,463 23,657 2,775 3,555 249,191
Transfer from right-of-use assets (note 20) 20 – – – 1,094 – – – 1,094
Charge for the year – 9 3,572 22,263 16,412 75 864 43,195
Disposals – – – (84,042) (269) – (4,254) (88,565)
Written off – – – (24,424) – – – (24,424)
Exchange differences – – (178) (610) (934) – – (1,722)          

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024  
– 9 9,135 127,744 38,866 2,850 165 178,769

Charge for the year – 109 7,209 13,433 19,325 16 150 40,242
Impairment for the year – – 3,765 15,312 – – – 19,077
Disposals – – – (69,133) (19,832) – – (88,965)
Written off – – (4,067) (824) – – – (4,891)
Exchange differences – – (156) (28) (70) – – (254)          

At 31 March 2025 – 118 15,886 86,504 38,289 2,866 315 143,978          

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2025 – 2,435 4,351 18,409 41,275 274 436 67,180

          

At 31 March 2024 – 2,544 14,602 55,468 61,945 290 586 135,435
          

19. 
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(Continued)
The directors considered that certain property, plant and 

equipment of the Group were subject to impairment loss because 

cash-generating units of these property, plant and equipment 

were non-performing for the year. An impairment provision of 

HK$19,077,000 (2024: Nil) was recognised in profit or loss to 

write down the carrying amounts of these items of property, plant 

and equipment to their recoverable amount of HK$5,121,000 

as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). The recoverable amount of the 

items of property, plant and equipment is determined based on 

a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on 

financial budgets covering a period of the remaining useful life or 

five years. The pre-tax discount rates applied for the cash flow 

projection was ranging from 9.39% to 9.50%.

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leased 

properties

Leased 

machinery and 

motor vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

At 1 April 2023 23,993 2,457 26,450

Transfer to property, plant and 

equipment (note 19)

 

19 – (2,457) (2,457)

Addition or modification 26,461 – 26,461

Depreciation (27,361) – (27,361)

Exchange differences (1,049) – (1,049)     

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

22,044 – 22,044

Addition or modification 20,633 – 20,633

Depreciation (22,480) – (22,480)

Termination of lease (5,026) – (5,026)

Exchange differences (124) – (124)     

At 31 March 2025 15,047 – 15,047
     

19.  

19,077,000

5,121,000

9.39% 9.50%

20. 
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20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than 

the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the 

lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing 

purposes.

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use 

assets 22,480 27,361

Interest expense on lease liabilities (included 

in finance costs) (note 11)

 

11 627 717

Expenses relating to short-term lease 

(included in cost of sales and services or 

administrative expenses)

 

 

7,878 7,633
    

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash outflows for 

leases were HK$31,277,000 (2024: HK$22,743,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group leased 

properties for its operations. Lease contracts were entered into 

for fixed term of one to three years (2024: one to three years). 

Lease terms were negotiated on an individual basis and contain 

a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the 

lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, 

the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the 

period for which the contract is enforceable.

20. 

31,277,000

22,743,000
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21. GOODWILL

HK$’000

   

Cost

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024,  

1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025

 

 

61   

Accumulated impairment losses

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024,  

1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025

 

 

61   

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2025 –
   

At 31 March 2024 –
   

21. 
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22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2025 and 

2024 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Issued capital/
registered capital

Percentage of ownership 
interest Principal activities

Direct Indirect

      

Jubilee Land Holdings Limited BVI US$2 100% 
(2024: 100%)

– Investment holding

Jubilee Land Holdings Limited 2 100%

100%

–

Red Day Global Limited BVI US$2 100% 
(2024: 100%)

– Investment holding

Red Day Global Limited 2 100%

100%

–

Jovial Lead Global Limited BVI US$2 100% 
(2024: 100%)

– Investment holding

Jovial Lead Global Limited 2 100%

100%

–

Otimus Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% 
(2024: 100%)

– Investment holding

Otimus Investment Limited 1 100%

100%

–

Barson Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% 
(2024: 100%)

– Investment holding

Barson Investment Limited 1 100%

100%

–

22. 
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Issued capital/
registered capital

Percentage of ownership 
interest Principal activities

Direct Indirect

      

Baseway Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% 
(2024: 100%)

– Investment holding

Baseway Investment Limited 1 100%

100%

–

Farman Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% 
(2024: 100%)

– Investment holding

Farman Investment Limited 1 100%

100%

–

Kingwide Resources Limited BVI HK$1 100% 
(2024: 100%)

– Investment holding

Kingwide Resources Limited 1 100%

100%

–

Yoma Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% 
(2024: 100%)

– Investment holding

Yoma Investment Limited 1 100%

100%

–

Blooming Art Holdings Ltd. BVI US$50,000 100% 
(2024: 100%)

– Investment holding

Blooming Art Holdings Ltd. 50,000 100%

100%

–

22. 22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Issued capital/
registered capital

Percentage of ownership 
interest Principal activities

Direct Indirect

      

Zhaobangji Capital (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 
(2024: 100%)

– Provision of money 
lending business

10,000 100%

100%

–

Sanroc International (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 – 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Sales of machinery and 
spare parts, rental of 
machinery and the 
provision of related 
services

1,000,000 – 100%

100%

Sanroc Leasing (Plant & Machinery) Limited Hong Kong HK$500,000 – 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Sales of machinery and 
spare parts, rental of 
machinery and the 
provision of related 
services

500,000 – 100%

100%

Benefit Sky Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Investment holding

1 – 100%

100%

Eagle Will Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Investment holding

1 – 100%

100%

22. 22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Issued capital/
registered capital

Percentage of ownership 
interest Principal activities

Direct Indirect

      

Glory Wise Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – – 
(2024: 100%)

Investment holding

1 – –

100%

Juheng Industrial Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Investment holding

10,000 – 100%

100%

Nice Creation Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Investment holding

1 – 100%

100%

Well Growth Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$1 – 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Investment holding

1 – 100%

100%

#

Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property Service 
Company Limited*

The PRC Registered capital 
of RMB20,000,000

– 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Provision of property 
management and 
related services

#

20,000,000

– 100%

100%

22. 22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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22. 

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Issued capital/
registered capital

Percentage of ownership 
interest Principal activities

Direct Indirect

      

#

Shenzhen Zhaobangji Construction 
Engineering Company Limited*

The PRC Registered capital 
of RMB20,000,000

– 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Inactive

#

20,000,000

– 100%

100%

#

Shenzhen Zhaobangji Financial Leasing 
Company Limited*

The PRC Registered capital 
of US$10,000,000

– 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Provision of money 
lending business and 
rental of machinery 
and the provision of 
related services

# 10,000,000 – 100%

100%

 

#

Shenzhen Senyuanda Industrial 
Development Company Limited*

The PRC Registered capital 
of RMB1,000,000

– – 
(2024: 70%)

Investment holding

#

1,000,000

– –

70%

#

Shenzhen Huijinbao Trading Company 
Limited*

The PRC Registered capital 
of RMB1,000,000

– 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Investment holding

#

1,000,000

– 100%

100%

^

Shenzhen Zhaobangji Business Management 
Co., Limited*

The PRC Registered capital 
of RMB30,000,000

– 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Provision of property 
leasing and 
subletting 

^

30,000,000

– 100%

100%

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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22. 

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Issued capital/
registered capital

Percentage of ownership 
interest Principal activities

Direct Indirect

      

Shenzhen Zhaobangji Town Wanxibang 
E-Commerce Co., Ltd.*

The PRC Registered capital 
of RMB3,000,000

– 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Provision of retail 
management 
services

3,000,000

– 100%

100%

^

Shenzhen Bang Century Interactive Network 
Co., Ltd.*

The PRC Registered capital 
of RMB50,000,000

– 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Provision of retail 
management 
services

^

50,000,000

– 100%

100%

^

Shenzhen Bang Century Culture 
Communication Co., Ltd.*

The PRC Registered capital 
of RMB2,000,000

– 100% 
(2024: 100%)

Provision of retail 
management 
services

^

2,000,000

– 100%

100%

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end 

of the year.

# Registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC 
law.

^ Registered as a company with limited liability under the PRC law.
 Registered as a Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau legal person sole 

investment company with limited liability under the PRC law.
* English names for identification purpose.

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

# 

^ 
 

* 
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23. 

0.7%

0.7%

24. 

470,000

1,684,000

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Unlisted equity securities 2,168 5,003
    

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the unlisted equity securities 

represented an investment of 0.7% (2024: 0.7%) equity interest 

in a private company established in the PRC controlled by the 

independent third party and are denominated in RMB.

The fair value of this investment at 31 March 2025 and 2024 was 

valued on asset-based approach with reference to its consolidated 

management accounts provided by the management. The 

valuation was performed by an independent qualified valuation 

firm,  (“Guo Zheng 

Appraisal”). Guo Zheng Appraisal took into consideration the 

assets and liabilities of this investment and its current financial 

status.

24. INVENTORIES

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Machinery and spare parts 1,799 5,270
    

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group reversal of 

write down inventories of HK$470,000 (2024: write down of 

HK$1,684,000) to their recoverable amount. The reversal of write 

down of inventories during the year ended 31 March 2025 is due 

to the sale of inventories at net realisable value higher than the 

carrying amounts.
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25. 

1 90

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade receivables 139,219 121,162

Less: ECL Allowance (32,737) (27,127)    

106,482 94,035
    

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. 

The credit terms generally range from 1 to 90 days. The Group 

seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. 

Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the directors and 

senior management.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s gross trade receivables, based 

on the invoice date is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0 to 30 days 0 30 2,556 6,375

31 to 60 days 31 60 5,879 11,284

61 to 90 days 61 90 4,709 3,477

More than 90 days 90 126,075 100,026    

139,219 121,162
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25. 25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The ageing analysis of these gross trade receivables, based on 

the due date, is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current (not past due) 1,944 3,785

1 to 30 days 1 30 4,124 10,090

31 to 60 days 31 60 4,518 5,087

61 to 90 days 61 90 3,482 6,685

More than 90 days 90 125,151 95,515    

139,219 121,162
    

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade 

receivables during the year is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 April 27,127 13,898

ECL allowance recognised for the year  

5,749 13,872

Exchange differences (139) (643)    

At 31 March 32,737 27,127
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26. 

5%

2.50% 4.75%

1 1 1 2

7,236,000

29,562,000

26. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current portion:

Deposits 1,459 617

Prepayments 4,831 1,629

Other receivables 19,392 56,245    

25,682 58,491    

Non-current portion:

Deposits 14,001 844

Other receivables 89 1,689    

14,090 2,533    

Total 39,772 61,024
    

The deposits and other receivables mainly represented the 

payments on behalf of residents and developers, reimbursement 

for renovation and decoration costs paid, advance payment for 

the contractors, deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant 

and equipment, advance payment for staff and value added 

tax recoverable. Included in the other receivables, net of ECL 

allowance, amounted to HK$7,236,000 (2024: HK$29,562,000) 

which carries interest at 5% (2024: 2.50% to 4.75%) per annuum 

and repayable within 1 year (2024: 1 year and 1–2 years).
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26. 26. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of other 

receivables during the year is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 April 2,391 1,964

Written off (33) –

ECL allowance recognised for the year  

12,854 535

Exchange differences (190) (108)    

At 31 March 15,022 2,391
    

The Group’s deposits, prepayment and other receivables are 

denominated in HK$ and RMB.
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27. LOANS RECEIVABLE

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Unsecured:

Total gross carrying amount 98,434 82,289

Less: Loss allowance (6,927) (5,861)    

91,507 76,428
    

Movement of loss allowance of loans receivable during the year is 

as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 April 5,861 2,797

ECL allowance recognised for the year 1,095 3,078

Exchange realignment (29) (14)    

At 31 March 6,927 5,861
    

The Group’s loans receivable (including the interest receivable) 

denominated in HK$ and RMB.

27. 
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27. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)
As at 31 March 2025, the Group as lender and seven (2024: 

five) borrowers, who are independent third parties, entered into 

the credit facilities agreements pursuant to which the Group has 

granted the loans in the amount of equivalent to approximately 

HK$93,394,000 to seven borrowers (2024: HK$78,549,000 to five 

borrowers).

As at 31 March 2025, the total undrawn faci l i t ies of the 

Group to borrowers amounted of equivalent to approximately 

HK$22,224,000 (2024: HK$10,521,000), but the drawdown 

of such is subject to the approval from the management of 

the Group, considering factors including but not limited to the 

cash level of the Group, the credit risk of the borrowers and 

requirements under the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.

At 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of loans receivable 

(including the interest receivable) was unsecured, carried at 

interest rates ranging from 3% to 7% (2024: 3% to 7%) per annum 

and repayable within two to three years (2024: two to three years) 

from the date of drawdown and the interest is repayable every 

six months or upon maturity date (2024: repayable every six 

months or upon maturity date). In the opinion of the directors, the 

maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of loans receivable 

at each of the reporting dates is the carrying value of the loans 

receivable mentioned above.

27. 

93,394,000

78,549,000

22,224,000

10,521,000

3% 7%

3% 7%
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27. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)
Analysis of the gross carrying amount and loss allowance of loans 

receivable under different stages of default as at 31 March 2025 

were as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Total
1 2

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Gross carrying amount:
At 1 April 2023 49,284 – 49,284
New loans/amounts originated 

during the year 33,330 – 33,330
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 1 2 (52,714) 52,714 –

Exchange realignment (325) – (325)     

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024
29,575 52,714 82,289

New loans/amounts originated 
during the year 16,554 47 16,601

Exchange realignment (456) – (456)     

At 31 March 2025 45,673 52,761 98,434
     

Stage 1 Stage 2 Total
1 2

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Loss allowance:
At 1 April 2023 2,797 – 2,797
New loans/amounts originated 

during the year 3,078 – 3,078
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 1 2 (4,602) 4,602 –

Exchange realignment (14) – (14)     

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024
1,259 4,602 5,861

New loans/amounts originated 
during the year 1,217 (122) 1,095

Exchange realignment (29) – (29)     

At 31 March 2025 2,447 4,480 6,927
     

27. 
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27. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)
The loans receivable, net of ECL allowance, are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within one year 78,938 3,389

More than one year, but not exceeding two 

years 6,466 73,039

More than two years but within three years 6,103 –    

91,507 76,428

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 

months (shown under current asset)

  

  

 (78,938) (3,389)    

Amount due for settlement after 12 months  

12,569 73,039
    

Loans receivable with aggregate gross carrying amount of 

HK$52,761,000 (2024: HK$52,714,000) was classified as stage 

2 due to the interest receivables were past due, which has 

increased significantly since initial recognition and HK$45,673,000 

(2024: HK$29,575,000) was classified as stage 1 due to limited 

exposure of credit risk and there is no significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition and not credit-impaired at the end of 

reporting period.

27. 

52,761,000

52,714,000

2

45,673,000

29,575,000

1
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28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current portion:

Equity securities, listed in Hong Kong  

(note (i))  (i) 1,449 6,890

Unlisted fund investment (note (i)) (i) 2,304 2,505    

3,753 9,395

Non-current portion:

Distressed asset (note (ii)) (ii) 56,966 70,389    

60,719 79,784
    

The equity securities listed in Hong Kong and the unlisted fund 

investment are denominated in HK$. The distressed asset is 

denominated in RMB.

Notes:

(i) The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are mandatorily 
measured at FVTPL in accordance with HKFRS 9.

The investments included above represent investments in equity 
securities listed in Hong Kong and unlisted fund investment held for 
trading that offer the Company the opportunity for return through 
dividend income or fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity or 
coupon rate.

The fair values of listed securities are based on quoted market 
prices and the fair value of fund investment with portfolio of 
securities listed in Hong Kong are based on the net asset value per 
shares which represented the fair value of the fund shared by each 
unit holders of the fund.

28. 

(i) 
9
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28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

The fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL for the year ended 
31 March 2025 is HK$5,457,000 (2024: HK$2,281,000), of which 
realised loss on financial assets at FVTPL for investment in equity 
securities with HK$4,785,000 (2024: Nil); unrealised loss on financial 
assets at FVTPL for investment in equity securities of HK$472,000 
(2024: HK$1,067,000); and unrealised loss on financial assets 
at FVTPL for unlisted fund investment of HK$200,000 (2024: 
HK$1,214,000), the aggregate of which was recorded as other 
gains and losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.

(ii) In prior years, the Group entered into the assignment agreement 
with the assignor, agreed to accept the assignment of, all the 
assignor’s rights, title and interests in relation to the secured loan 
and all the assignor’s rights to the collaterals and securities for or 
in respect of the Secured Loan (i.e. the Mortgage over the Property 
and the Guarantee), at the cash consideration of RMB65,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$74,100,000). Where the conditions 
precedent are not satisfied or waived within two years from the date 
of the assignment agreement, the Group has the right to (i) require 
the assignor to return the amount of paid consideration and cancel 
the assignment; or (ii) depending on the legal process in relation to 
the secured loan, require for two additional years for completing 
the assignment. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group 
entered into the supplemental agreement with the assignor to 
extend two additional years until 8 September 2026 for completing 
the assignment.

The acquisition of the loan is mainly for acquiring the intact right to 
apply to and it is likely that the Group can obtain from the relevant 
PRC court for an order to sell the collaterals, by way of auction in 
order to recover part of the outstanding amount under the secured 
loan or to utilise the collaterals to generate operational income. The 
collaterals have already been seized by order of the relevant PRC 
Court. As at 31 March 2025, the Group, with the assistance of 
the assignor, is applying for the relevant PRC court to sell or utilise 
the collaterals. As of the date of issuance of these consolidated 
financial statements, the legal proceedings remain ongoing, with 
uncertainties regarding the outcome of the sale of collaterals. The 
directors of the Company consider that despite the uncertainty 
surrounding the sale of collaterals, and as advised by the Group’s 
PRC legal adviser, the right to generate income from the collaterals 
can be obtained from the relevant PRC court within one year.

28. 

(i) 

5,457,000
2,281,000
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28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(ii) (Continued)

The fair value of the distressed asset at 31 March 2024 was valued 
on discounted cash flow approach with reference to the expected 
recoverable amounts, expected recovery date, relevant cost 
incurred to realise the asset and the rate that corresponding to the 
expected risk level. The valuation was performed by an independent 
qualified valuation firm APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting 
Limited.

2024

   

Expected recoverable amounts RMB80,955,000
80,955,000

Year to recovery 1 year
1

Discount rate that corresponds to the expected risk level 17%
   

 The fair value of the distressed asset at 31 March 2025 was valued 
on discounted cash flow approach with reference to the expected 
recoverable amounts, expected recovery date, relevant cost 
incurred to realise the asset and the rate that corresponding to 
expected risk level and the fair value of the put option.

2025

   

Expected recoverable amounts RMB65,000,000
65,000,000

Year to recovery 1.5 years
1.5

Discount rate that corresponds to the expected risk level 15%
   

28. 

(ii) 
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28. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(ii) (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, a slight increase in the discount rate that 
correspond to the expected recovery of the assignor used in 
isolation would result in a significant decrease in the fair value 
measurement of the distressed asset, and vice versa. The 
management adjusted the sensitivity rate from 13% to 17% 
(2024: 15% to 19%) for the purpose of performing the sensitivity 
analysis. A 13% (2024: 12%) increase/decrease in the discount 
rates that correspond to the expected risk level holding all other 
variables constant would (decrease)/increase the carrying amount 
of the distressed asset by (HK$1,392,000)/HK$1,392,000 (2024: 
(HK$2,166,000)/HK$2,166,000).

29. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cash on hand 46 242

Cash at bank 16,561 24,036

Bank deposits with original maturities of less 

than three months

 

12,275 10,000    

Total bank and cash balances 28,882 34,278
    

At 31 March 2025, the bank deposits with original maturities of 

less than three months carried fixed interest rate of 4.00% and 

4.03% (2024: 4.40% and 4.45%) per annum are exposing the 

Group to fair value interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s bank and cash balances 

held by the PRC subsidiaries denominated in RMB amounted to 

HK$4,797,000 (2024: HK$5,217,000). Conversion of HK$ out of 

the PRC are subject to the foreign exchange control regulations 

imposed by the PRC government.

28. 

(ii) 

13%
17% 15% 19%

13%
12%

(1,392,000) 1,392,000
(2 ,166 ,000 )

2,166,000

29. 
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30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Billing in advance of performance obligation 

on the sales of machinery and spare parts 

and provision of related services

 

 

40 40

Billing in advance of performance obligation 

on the sales of property management 

services

 

1,310 1,213

Contract liabilities arising from sales of game 

coins and tickets in amusement arcades

 

4,433 8,207    

5,783 9,460
    

Contract liabilities relating to sales of machinery and spare parts, 

provision of related services and property management services 

and unearned revenue from sales of game coins and tickets in 

the Group’s amusement arcades are balances due to customers 

under contracts with customers. The significant decrease 

in contract liabilities for the year ended 31 March 2025 was 

mainly due to the decrease in sales of game coins and tickets in 

amusement arcades. They arise when the customers pay deposits 

before the Group transfers control of the goods or services to the 

customers or considerations received in advance as prepayments 

by customers. As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s contract 

liabilities of HK$5,783,000 (2024: HK$9,460,000) are expected to 

be recognised within one year (2024: one year).

30. 

5,783,000

9,460,000



183兆邦基生活控股有限公司 • 二零二五年年報

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

For the year ended 31 March 2025 截至二零二五年三月三十一日止年度

30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)
Movements in contract liabilities:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At 1 April 9,460 5,071

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result 

or recognising revenue during the year 

was included in contract liabilities at the 

beginning of the year

 

(9,420) (5,071)

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of 

billing in advance of sales of machinery 

and spare parts and provision of related 

services, property management services 

and sales of game coins and tickets in 

amusement arcades 5,743 9,460    

At 31 March 5,783 9,460
    

30. 
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31. 31. BORROWINGS

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Bank loans, secured 2,677 10,189
    

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within one year 2,677 7,429

More than one year, but not exceeding two 

years – 2,760    

2,677 10,189

Portion of bank loans that are due for 

repayment after one year but contain a 

repayment on demand clause (shown 

under current liabilities)

 

 

– (53)    

2,677 10,136

Less: Amount due for settlement within 

12 months (shown under current 

liabilities)

  

  

 (2,677) (7,429)    

Amount due for settlement after 12 months  
– 2,707

    

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loans are denominated 

in RMB (2024: HK$ and RMB).
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31. 

984,000

2,677,000 9,205,000

3.95% 3.50%

4.48%

– 

– 

31. BORROWINGS (Continued)
As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank loans of HK$984,000 

are arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the Group to fair 

value interest rate risk. The bank loans of HK$2,677,000 (2024: 

HK$9,205,000) are arranged at variable rates, thus exposing the 

Group to cash flow interest rate risk. As at 31 March 2025, the 

effective interest rate is at 3.95% (2024: ranging from 3.50% to 

4.48%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s banking facilities are subject to 

annual review and are secured by:

– property held by a director and his spouse of a subsidiary of 

the Company; and

– personal guarantee granted by a director and his spouse of 

a subsidiary of the Company.
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31. BORROWINGS (Continued)
As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s banking facilities were subject 

to annual review and were secured by:

– unlimited corporate guarantees granted by the Company 

and the certain subsidiaries of the company;

– certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with Nil 

carrying amount;

– personal guarantee granted by independent third parties;

– property of a director of a subsidiary of the Company;

– property of spouse of a director of a subsidiary of the 

Company;

– personal guarantee granted by a director of a subsidiary of 

the Company; and

– personal guarantee granted by spouse of a director of a 

subsidiary of the Company.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total banking facilities including 

those for issuance of letters of credit utilised amounted to 

HK$2,677,000 (2024: HK$10,189,000).

31. 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

2,677,000

10,189,000
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32. LEASE LIABILITIES

Future lease payments

Present value of future lease 

payments

2025 2024 2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Within one year 15,439 21,213 15,202 20,824

More than one year, but not 

exceeding two years – 1,939 – 1,921      

15,439 23,152 15,202 22,745

Less: Future finance 

charges

 

(237) (407) N/A N/A      

Present value of lease 

obligations 15,202 22,745 15,202 22,745
    

Less: Amount due for 

settlement within 

12 months (shown 

under current 

liabilities)

  

  

 

(15,202) (20,824)  

Amount due for settlement 

after 12 months

 
– 1,921

  

32. 
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33. 33. DEFERRED TAX
Deferred tax liabilities
The movement in the deferred tax liabilities and its components as 

at the reporting date during the year is as follows:

Accelerated tax 

depreciation

HK$’000

   

At 1 April 2023 13,876

Credited to profit or loss for the year (note 12) 12 (1,280)
   

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024  

12,596

Credited to profit or loss for the year (note 12) 12 (7,303)   

At 31 March 2025 5,293
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33. 

114,725,000

103,190,000

46,524,000

43,837,000

33. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
Deferred tax assets
The movement in the deferred tax assets and its components as 

at the reporting date during the year is as follows:

Tax losses

HK$’000

   

At 1 April 2023 –

Credited to profit or loss for the year (note 12) 12 551   

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024  

551

Charged to profit or loss for the year (note 12) 12 (551)   

At 31 March 2025 –
   

At 31 March 2025, the Group has not recognised deferred tax 

assets in respect of the unused tax losses of approximately 

HK$114,725,000 (2024: HK$103,190,000) due to unpredictability 

of future taxable profits against the unused tax losses that can 

be utilised in the relevant jurisdictions. All of the tax losses can 

be carried forward indefinitely under the tax regulations, except 

for those arising from the PRC subsidiaries of approximately 

HK$46,524,000 (2024: HK$43,837,000), which can be carried 

forward only for five years from the recognition date of unused tax 

losses.
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34. 

9,199,000

8,080,000

34. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 
PAYABLES

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade payables 24,565 21,140

Accruals and other payables 39,286 39,586    

63,851 60,726
    

Included in other payables, amounted to HK$9,199,000 

(2024: HK$8,080,000) represented the deposits for property 

management from customers.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the 

date of receipt of goods or service consumed, is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0 to 30 days 0 30 895 1,951

31 to 60 days 31 60 1,586 2,726

61 to 90 days 61 90 1,424 453

More than 90 days 90 20,660 16,010    

24,565 21,140
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35. 35. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 

shares Amount

HK$’000

    

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each 0.002

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024,  

1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025

 

 

10,000,000,000 20,000
    

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each 0.002

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024,  

1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025

 

 

6,195,000,000 12,390
    

Note:

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity and 

borrowings. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 

Group may adjust the amount of dividends to shareholders, return 

capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce 

borrowings. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or 

processes during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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35. 

25%

25%

38.59%

38.59%

35. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
The Group monitors capital on the basis of a gearing ratio. The 

gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net 

debt is calculated as total borrowings and total lease liabilities 

less bank and cash balances. The gearing ratio at the end of the 

reporting period was as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Borrowings 2,677 10,189

Lease liabilities 15,202 22,745

Less: Bank and cash balances (28,882) (34,278)    

(11,003) (1,344)

Total equity 317,361 398,685

Gearing ratio N/A N/A
    

The Company’s externally imposed capital requirements for its 

listing on the Stock Exchange is to maintain a public float of at 

least 25% of the shares. The Company receives a report from the 

share registrars weekly on substantial share interests showing the 

non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with 

the 25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 March 2025, 38.59% 

(2024: 38.59%) of the shares were in public hands.
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Share option scheme
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for 

the purpose of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, 

compensating and providing benefits to participants of the 

Scheme in order to encourage participants to work towards 

enhancing the value of the Company. Eligible participants of the 

Scheme include the Group’s directors and full-time employees, 

etc. The Scheme became effective on 23 January 2017 and 

unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain valid and 

effective for a period of 10 years from that date. For the years 

ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no options have been granted.

36. 
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment – 2
Investments in subsidiaries 22 113,064 113,064     

113,064 113,066     

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries 94,037 88,126
Amount due from a shareholder – 2,993
Bank and cash balances 144 5,526     

94,181 96,645     

Current liabilities
Accruals 3,079 2,682
Amounts due to subsidiaries 5,921 5,979
Amount due to a shareholder 1,918 –     

10,918 8,661     

Net current assets 83,263 87,984     

Net assets 196,327 201,050     

Capital and reserves
Share capital 35 12,390 12,390
Reserves 37(b) 183,937 188,660     

Total equity 196,327 201,050
     

Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025 and are 
signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Xu Zhicong Ms. Tsim Ying Wah

Director Director

37. 

(a) 
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 
(Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

Share 

premium

Other 

reserve

Accumulated 

losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 April 2023 116,347 112,594 (35,842) 193,099

Loss and total comprehensive expense 

for the year – – (4,439) (4,439)      

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024

116,347 112,594 (40,281) 188,660

Loss and total comprehensive expense 

for the year – – (4,723) (4,723)      

At 31 March 2025 116,347 112,594 (45,004) 183,937
      

Note:

Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between the net 
asset value of Jubilee Land Holdings Limited, Red Day Global Limited and 
Jovial Lead Global Limited acquired over the nominal value of the share 
capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

37. 
 

(b) 

Jubi lee Land 
Holdings Limited Red Day Global Limited
Jovial Lead Global Limited
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38. RESERVES
(a) The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are 

presented in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of 

changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium account

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue 

of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share. 

Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, the 

funds in the share premium account of the Company are 

distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided 

that immediately following the date on which the dividend 

is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a 

position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary 

course of business.

(ii) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all 

foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of 

the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is 

dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out 

in note 4(c)(iii) to the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference between the 

share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the 

reorganisation over the nominal value of the share capital of 

the Company issued in exchange.

38. 
(a) 

(b) 
(i) 

(ii) 

4(c)(iii)

(iii) 
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38. RESERVES (Continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv) Statutory reserve

The statutory reserve represents the amount set aside from 

the retained earnings by certain subsidiaries incorporated in 

the PRC and is not distributable as dividend. In accordance 

with the relevant regulations and their articles of association, 

the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are 

required to allocate at least 10% of their after-tax profit 

according to the PRC accounting standards and regulations 

to legal reserves until such reserves have reached 50% of 

registered capital. The reserve can only be used for specific 

purposes and is not distributable or transferable to loans, 

advances and cash dividends.

(v) Financial assets at FVOCI reserve – non recycling 

The financial assets at FVOCI reserve comprises the 

cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets at 

FVOCI held at the end of the reporting period and is dealt 

with in accordance with the accounting policy in note 4(i) to 

the consolidated financial statements.

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions
During the year ended 31 March 2025, there was non-cash 

additions to or modification of right-of-use assets (Note 20) and 

lease liabilities (Note 32) of approximately HK$20,633,000 and 

HK$20,633,000 (2024: HK$26,461,000 and HK$26,461,000) 

respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for properties.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, lease l iabil it ies of 

HK$13,236,000 were settled through net off with the trade 

receivable from the independent third party.

38. 
(b) 

(iv) 

10%

50%

(v) 

4(i)

39.  

(a) 

20 32

20,633,000

20,633,000

26,461,000 26,461,000

13,236,000
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39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing 
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising 

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for 

which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in 

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows 

from financing activities.

Borrowings
Lease 

liabilities

Amounts 
due to 
related 

companies*

Amount 
due to a 

shareholder Total

*
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 31) (note 32) (note 42) (note 42)
31 32 42 42

       

At 1 April 2023 26,027 24,973 5,988 – 56,988       

Changes from financing cash flows:
Repayment of borrowings (14,810) – – – (14,810)
Payment of lease liabilities – (14,393) – – (14,393)
Repayment to related parties – – (5,830) – (5,830)
Advance from a shareholder – – – 1,825 1,825
Interest paid (945) (717) – – (1,662)       

Total changes from financing cash flows (15,755) (15,110) (5,830) 1,825 (34,870)

Other changes:
Non-cash movement of lease liabilities  

(note 39(a))
 

39(a) – (13,236) – – (13,236)
Increase in lease liabilities from entering  

into new tenancy
 

– 26,461 – – 26,461
Interest expenses 945 717 – – 1,662
Exchange realignment (1,028) (1,060) (25) – (2,113)       

Total other changes (83) 12,882 (25) – 12,774       

At 31 March 2024 10,189 22,745 133 1,825 34,892       

39.  

(b)  
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39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing 
activities (Continued)

Borrowings
Lease 

liabilities

Amounts 
due to 

related 
companies*

Amount 
due to a 

shareholder Total

*
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note 31) (note 32) (note 42) (note 42)
31 32 42 42

       

At 1 April 2024 10,189 22,745 133 1,825 34,892       

Changes from financing cash flows:

Repayment of borrowings (7,491) – – – (7,491)
Payment of lease liabilities – (22,772) – – (22,772)
Advances from related parties – – 3,618 – 3,618
Advance from a shareholder – – – 93 93
Interest paid (447) (627) – – (1,074)       

Total changes from financing cash flows (7,938) (23,399) 3,618 93 (27,626)

Other changes:
Early termination of leases – (5,281) – – (5,281)
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into 

new tenancy
 

– 20,633 – – 20,633
Interest expenses 447 627 – – 1,074
Exchange realignment (21) (123) (1) – (145)       

Total other changes 426 15,856 (1) – 16,281       

At 31 March 2025 2,677 15,202 3,750 1,918 23,547
       

* The balance represents the non-trade nature balances of amounts 
due to related parties.

39.  

(b) 

* 
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40. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessee
The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for machinery 

and equipment, staff quarters, offices and storage premises. As 

at 31 March 2025, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar 

to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term 

lease expense disclosed in note 20. As at 31 March 2025, the 

outstanding lease commitments relating to premises is HK$7,000 

(2024: HK$7,000).

The Group as lessor
The Group had contracted with lessees for leasing machinery 

under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within the first year 376 1,413

In the second year – 581    

376 1,994
    

41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Leasehold improvements, machinery and 

equipment 130 5,763
    

40. 

20

7,000

7,000

41. 
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42. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
In addition to those related party transactions and balances 

disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the 

Group had entered into the following transactions and balances 

with its related parties during the year.

(a) Transactions with related parties

Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transaction 2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Well link Financial Services 

Limited

An entity controlled by the 

controlling shareholder of the 

Company

Rental expense (1,433) (1,868)

 An entity controlled by the nephew 

of the controlling shareholder of 

the Company

Office expense (15) –

 

 An entity controlled by the nephew 

of the controlling shareholder of 

the Company

Property management 

service income

10 –

 

42. 

(a) 
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42. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties

Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transaction 2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

     

 An entity controlled by the nephew 
of the controlling shareholder of 
the Company

Amounts due to related 
companies (note (i))

(15) (15)

 (i)

Well Link Financial Services 
Limited

An entity controlled by the 
controlling shareholder of the 
Company

Amounts due to related 
companies (note (i))

(3,735) –

(i)

An entity controlled by the nephew 
of the controlling shareholder of 
the Company

Amounts due to related 
companies (note (i))

– (118)

(i)

 An entity controlled by the nephew 
of the controlling shareholder of 
the Company

Amounts due from related 
companies (note (i))

23 77

 (i)

An entity controlled by the nephew 
of the controlling shareholder of 
the Company

Amounts due from related 
companies (note (i))

6 7

(i)

An entity controlled by the nephew 
of the controlling shareholder of 
the Company

Amounts due from related 
companies (note (i))

791 –

(i)

Mr. Xu Chujia Ultimate controlling party of the 
Company

Amount due to a  
shareholder (note (ii))

(1,918) (1,825)

(ii)

Notes:

(i) The amounts due from/(to) related companies of non-trade in nature 
is unsecured, interest free, repayable on demand and denominated 
in RMB.

(ii) The amount due to a shareholder is unsecured, interest-free and 
repayable on demand.

42.  

(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 
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42. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS 
(Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
The maximum outstanding balances due from the related parties 

during the year presented are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Name of the related parties

 

77 259

7 7

791 266

(c) Compensation of key management personnel
The details of remuneration of key management personnel which 

represents the emoluments of directors of the Company paid or 

payable during the year are set out in note 15(a).

43. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform 

with current year’s presentation.

42.  

(b) 

(c) 

15(a)

43. 
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A summary of the consolidated results and of the assets and liabilities 

of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the 

published audited financial statements and as appropriate, is set out 

below:

For the year ended 31 March

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Results 
Revenue 197,899 267,691 258,353 271,998 240,107

       
 
(Loss)/profit before tax (86,066) (28,183) (35,446) 60,686 106,223
Income tax credit/(expenses) 8,261 149 (5,539) (22,699) (18,021)       
 
(Loss)/profit for the year (77,805) (28,034) (40,985) 37,987 88,202

       
 
(Loss)/profit for the year  
 attributable to:

 
 

Owners of the Company (77,805) (28,034) (40,985) 37,987 88,220
Non-controlling interest – – – – (18)       

(77,805) (28,034) (40,985) 37,987 88,202
       

As at 31 March

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Assets and liabilities
Total assets 415,965 516,362 557,966 613,462 570,130
Total liabilities (98,604) (117,677) (123,543) (125,540) (128,204)       

Net assets 317,361 398,685 434,423 487,922 441,926
       

Equity attributable to 
 owners of the Company  317,361 398,734 434,475 487,977 441,978
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